DECEMBER 2009

How Are Canadians Really Doing? A Closer Look at Select Groups

SPECIAL REPORT

CARYL ARUNDEL AND ASSOCIATES



About the Canadian Index of Wellbeing (CIW) Network

The CIW Network's mission is to promote a new understanding of wellbeing and a dialogue that reshapes the way we talk about wellbeing. It encourages policy makers to make evidence-based choices that respond to the values and needs of Canadians in a way that improves their quality of life. The CIW Network is independent and non-partisan. Its work is guided by an Advisory Board of accomplished Canadian and international experts, chaired by Mr. Romanow.

The CIW Network's key activities include overseeing the development and regular publication of the CIW, expanding the CIW Network with influential leaders, policy makers and community-based champions, and contributing to societal understanding and engagement about wellbeing.

The Canadian Index of Wellbeing

The CIW is a new way of measuring societal wellbeing. It provides unique insights into the quality of life of Canadians — overall, and in specific areas that matter: our standard of living, our health, the quality of our environment, our education and skill levels, the way we use our time, the vitality of our communities, our participation in the democratic process, and the state of our arts, culture and recreation.

This approach is much broader than traditional measurements of wellbeing, which tend to focus on narrow economic indicators such as Gross Domestic Product (GDP). Unlike the GDP, which goes up in response to all economic spending (including tobacco purchases, depletion of natural resources, construction of prisons), the CIW distinguishes between beneficial activities (including those which don't involve any exchange of money such as volunteer activity) which it treats as assets, and harmful ones, which it treats as deficits.

The CIW goes beyond conventional silos and shines a spotlight on the interconnections among the many factors that shape our wellbeing: for example, how changes in income and education are linked to changes in health.

The long-term goal of the CIW is to establish a national framework that profiles a full array of indicators of wellbeing in a single composite index. Once fully developed, it will be a robust information tool — one that will report regularly on wellbeing trends and will enable Canadians to promote wellbeing with policy shapers and decision makers.

All CIW research is available free online at <u>www.ciw.ca</u>. The CIW currently provides:

- Three detailed research studies on different, but interconnected categories of wellbeing: Living Standards, Healthy Populations and Community Vitality.
- A First Report, How are Canadians Really doing? that connects the dots in the three research reports including highlights and summaries.
- A special report on the current recession: The Economic Crisis through the Lens of Economic Wellbeing.

Table of Contents

Executive Summary

Introduction	I
Methodology	
Key Findings from the CIW Research Reports	
Select Groups of Canadians	4
A Lens on Low-Income	4
Income and Income Inequality	
Low-income, Employment and Education	7
Low-income and Health	
Low-income and Neighbourhoods	
A Lens on Three Population Sub-Groups	11
Aboriginal Peoples	
Racialized Groups	
Youth	
An International Lens	17
Conclusions	21
References	24

Executive Summary

On June 10, 2009, the CIW Network released its First Report, How are Canadians Really doing? The Report summarized the trends, highlights and interconnections among three related areas of wellbeing – Living Standards, Healthy Populations and Community Vitality.

The First Report identified a number of groups whose wellbeing was significantly worse than that of most Canadians. As a follow-up, the CIW has taken a closer look at the wellbeing of four of these groups: Canadians with low incomes, Aboriginal peoples, racialized groups, and youth.

The findings from this closer look provides further evidence that low-income, Aboriginal, racialized and youth population groups are being left behind and are not sharing in the wealth, health and strong community that Canada has worked to develop.

The relationship between income and wellbeing is well-founded. Income is a fundamental determining factor regarding health status, mortality rates, birth weights and chronic disease. Income is also key to education, community cohesion and inclusion.

Yet more and more Canadians are having a hard time making ends meet. Telling indicators include an increasing number of Canadians working for minimum wage, a 42 percent increase in new clients at Credit Canada and a 20 percent increase in the number of Canadians turning to food banks each month.

The prevalence of low income continues to affect some groups more than others. Median income for First Nations people in Canada falls about \$11,000 below that of the non-Aboriginal population. Visible minority or racialized groups are three times more likely to be poor than other Canadians because of levels of education, barriers to employment and low wages. They are also more likely to be poor because of persistent social exclusion and racialization in the labour market.

Young people are also increasingly at risk of low income, partly due to delays in their transition to independence. In fact, the percent of young adults in their 20s who live at home has doubled over the past three decades. Earnings of young adults relative to other earners have also been falling over the past 20 years and young adults are entering employment later than ever before.

The higher prevalence of lower incomes among these three groups of Canadians has widespread negative impacts on their health, educational attainment, and social inclusion. For example, white youth reported higher levels of wellbeing than racial minority youth and two times higher levels of wellbeing than Aboriginal youth. Overall, research shows that Aboriginal peoples have higher levels of unmet health needs and higher levels of poor health than other Canadians. Provincial testing of Grade 3 and 6 students in Toronto identified a clear performance gap based on race, income, marital status, and parent's level of education. Some of the differences were as high as 40 percent in math.

These differences in the earlier years are reflected in post-secondary education completion trends. While 33 percent of Canadian children born of Canadian parents will complete university, performance of racialized groups varies considerably with about 23 percent of first generation and immigrant children from Caribbean and Latin American parents and less than 20 percent of children of Filipino parents completing university. Just 8 percent of the Aboriginal population has completed university compared to 23 percent for the non-Aboriginal population.

These outcomes have implications for a sense of belonging. While nearly two-thirds of white people report a sense of community belonging and connectedness, that figure falls to just over 50 percent for Aboriginal peoples and many racialized groups. In fact, eight out of ten visible minorities reported that they had experienced discrimination because of their race or ethnic origin. Nearly twice as many visible minorities as non-visible minorities reported that they had experienced discrimination.

Canadians understand that there are costs to social exclusion and they want government action to reduce inequality. Most Canadians report that during a recession it is more important than ever for governments to make helping poor Canadians a priority. Most agree that government policies might be responsible for poverty. Nearly 60 percent agree that most people are poor because there are unequal opportunities in society.

As international evidence shows us, levels of wellbeing relate to the policy and program context – they are not inevitable. In general, countries with more generous social protection systems tend to have better population health outcomes. By comparison, Canada is falling behind other industrialized nations when it comes to levels of poverty, advances in early learning, levels of inequality between the rich and poor, and investments in social programs.

Many of the reports and studies reviewed for this paper also call for joined-up, integrated and inter-sectoral action. Benefits of a more integrated approach within government, between different levels of government and between government and the critically important third sector would be felt in policy making, program planning and delivery and in frameworks for measuring and reporting on wellbeing.

Introduction

The CIW's publicly released research reports in June 2009 on Living Standards, Healthy Populations and Community Vitality use a range of indicators of wellbeing to describe how Canada is positioned using national, and in some instances, provincial data. The CIW reports do not fully report on regional variations across the country or fully detail variations in select subpopulations.

The purpose of this paper is look at how some of the key themes from the three research reports relate to select groups of Canadians. In particular, it will further explore the connections between health, income, inequality and social cohesion for three groups of Canadians: Aboriginal peoples, youth, and racialized groups.

Identifying particular groups of Canadians is an inexact science. At the individual level, many groups of Canadians may face situations that put them at risk of lower levels of wellness and wellbeing and reduces their future prospects. This is not a constant state and relates to the environment in which a person is located as well as the intrinsic characteristics of the person. At the individual level, there is general agreement that persons with low income are at risk, however there are many other factors that could contribute to individual level vulnerability.

Efforts to select population groups for specific analysis can be somewhat subjective. Groups of people are dynamic; they do not have firm boundaries to define the group or fixed characteristics for members in the group. In addition, people belong to more than one group. Aboriginal peoples, racialized groups and youth were identified in the three earlier CIW research papers as being particularly at risk and are the focus of this paper. It is acknowledged that there are other significant groups of Canadians that may also be identified as living in vulnerable circumstances, including recent immigrants, persons with disabilities, and children that will not be discussed in this paper.

There are many reasons why some groups fall behind other Canadians including discrimination and racism, historic inequities based in treaties and legislation, geographic differences, and public policy. This paper does not explore the causes or specific solutions – it focuses on highlighting the issues and engaging others in conversations and action to address the uneven levels of wellbeing in Canada. The paper is descriptive and builds on past CIW work to explore wellbeing in Canada.

This paper also highlights the importance of bringing other perspectives to the discussion of the state of wellbeing of Canadians. It applies an international lens to Canada's state of wellbeing. How do we compare to other countries? How do we measure up when assessed against the obligations that we have accepted under international treaties with the United Nations?

The methodology is described in the next section, followed by a brief summary of the three CIW research reports which form the foundation for this paper. The main body of the paper explores recent research related to low income, income inequality, health, education and neighbourhoods and then looks at each of the three groups. This discussion is followed by an overview of Canada's state of wellbeing in an international context. The conclusion section

reflects on the importance of complementing national measures of wellbeing with more focused looks at groups of Canadians and identifies some issues for the CIW to consider as part of its ongoing work.

Methodology

The three CIW research reports highlight a range of issues that affect the wellbeing of Canadians. This paper extends that analysis by looking in more detail at some of the groups identified in those reports. It is based on a scan of studies and research that were published in 2008 and 2009 that relate to three issues discussed in the first research reports: income inequality and poverty; diabetes and youth self-rated health; and the significance of community connectedness and capacity building (community vitality). Over the next 12 months, the CIW will release additional research reports that consider other components of wellbeing such as democratic engagement, education, time use, arts, culture and recreation, and environment. While this paper may touch on some of the issues in these future reports, its focus is on the issues identified in the Living Standards, Health Populations and Community Vitality reports.

Within the overall focus on income inequality and poverty, diabetes and youth self-rated health, and community connectedness and capacity building, the paper further focuses on three population groups: Aboriginal peoples, racialized groups and youth. While there is some detail and disaggregation in the discussion of the three groups, this report tends to focus on the groups as a whole.

The scan boundaries were limited to 2008 and up to August 2009, in an effort to build on and extend the research undertaken as part of the three research reports. A limited number of sources are included for earlier years if they were particularly relevant or if recent sources were not available. It is recognized that these time boundaries served to limit the sources that were reviewed for this paper. Nonetheless, there was a significant volume of material and the findings or conclusions were not compromised or incomplete because of the time parameters.

A range of key words, reflecting the areas of focus and the select population groups, was used to search different electronic databases. This resulted in a body of academic and grey literature from local, regional, provincial and national sources. In addition, members of the Canadian Research Advisory Group (CRAG) of the CIW Network were canvassed for input and sources. Telephone interviews were conducted with some stakeholders to discuss potential sources for the scan. The draft report was circulated for comment to a number of experts researching or working with the groups featured in this report. Some of these experts participated in a roundtable discussion of the report. Feedback from this process was helpful in the completion of the final report.

Key Findings from the CIW Research Reports

This paper was developed to explore some of the key issues that were identified in the three CIW research reports released in June 2009. As noted earlier, the Living Standards, Health Populations and Community Vitality CIW reports use a range of national indicators to measure and assess wellbeing. The following is a brief summary of the key findings of each – it captures

the key messages but not the full scope or detail of the main research reports. The reports are available at www.ciw.ca.

Living Standards

- The average Canadian has higher income than they have in the past, however they also work longer hours. The average level of wealth of Canadians has also increased.* (research results prior to recession)
- Overall, Canada became a much richer country, but it was the top 20 percent that received the lion's share of rising income and wealth.
- Both income and wealth inequality have increased the rich are getting richer. There has been little progress in reducing poverty and the poor are staying poor.
- There has been substantial improvement in labour market conditions but the proportion of long term unemployed has increased.
- The frayed social safety net provides less support for the disadvantaged.

Healthy Populations

- Canadians are living longer but not better. Life expectancy has steadily increased, but the number of years lived in good health peaked in 1996 and has since dropped.
- Substantial health gaps persist despite the availability of universal health services.
- There is evidence of a range of health inequalities based on gender, income levels, education, ethno-racial backgrounds, age, geography (location in Canada), and community. For example, money and education matter higher income and better educated Canadians enjoy better health and health outcomes than other Canadians. There are noticeable differences in life expectancy, health adjusted life expectancy, diabetes and depression (some of which are modified by income and education) for women and men.
- Canadians don't feel as healthy as they used to there is a decline in self-rated health across the population.
- Teenagers are reporting more health problems and lower self-rated health there
 is a decline in health and health outcomes for youth aged 12 to 19 years
- Diabetes is a significant chronic illness that affects Canadians the single most important cause of diabetes is excess weight.

Community Vitality

- Social networks and relationships with family, friends and communities are getting smaller but remain strong. Canadians offer high levels of support to others.
- Canadians are participating more in organizations and volunteer activities.
- Levels of crime are down. Levels of trust are relatively high.
- Visible minorities report discrimination.
- Canadians feel they belong and that they are connected to their community.

Select Groups of Canadians

Canada has been a leader in articulating and exploring the connections between health and money, education, employment and community. The Lalonde report, A New Perspective on the Health of Canadians (1974) was important in identifying determinants of health like environment and lifestyle that were seen as outside the traditional health care system. Health for All: A Framework for Health Promotion (1986) described inequalities in health and argued that the factors outside the health system including income, social status, education, and employment had a significant effect on health. The influential Ottawa Charter for Health Promotion (1986) identified income and education as part of a list of prerequisites for health. More recently, the Public Health Agency of Canada established a list of 12 determinants of health (Canada 2003).

Canada has continued its leadership through the establishment by the CIW Network of the Canadian Index of Wellbeing. The eight CIW categories reflect the views of Canadians on "what really matters" as expressed through three separate rounds of public and expert consultations.

A Lens on Low-Income

Specific groups of Canadians may not have stable or sufficient sources of income, may have health conditions, unstable or inadequate housing or and/or limited and unstable relationships. They may not have sufficient money, resources or capacity to meet their basic needs and to participate in their community. They are particularly sensitive to changes in their environment and their experiences can be compounded by discrimination and stereotyping. A recent housing audit by the Centre for Equality Rights in Housing (2009) found that people belonging to certain groups were more likely to face housing discrimination which put them at higher risk of homelessness and associated factors.

Income and Income Inequality

The findings from the three CIW research reports confirm the continuing importance of income, employment and education to the wellbeing of Canadians. They show that many Canadians struggle in low-income to attain good health.

According to the May 16, 2006, Census of Population, there were 31,612,897 people in Canada, an increase of 5.4 percent from 2001 (Martel & Caron Malenfant, 2008). Canada had the highest rate of population growth of any G8 country between 2001 and 2006, due in large part to international migration (Martel et al, 2007). About 11.4 percent of the total population, or nearly 3.5 million Canadians, including nearly 880,000 children aged 17 years and under, lived in low-income in 2005 based on the after-tax Low Income Cut Off¹ (Statistics Canada 2008b).

¹ Statistics Canada's low income rate measures the percentage of families below the low income cut-off (LICO). The LICO is a statistical measure of the income threshold below which Canadians are estimated to devote at least one-fifth more of their income than the average family to the necessities of food, shelter and clothing.

While the after tax low-income rate has declined over the past 25 years, from 17.3 percent to 15.3 percent, the low-income rate for children changed very little (Statistics Canada 2008b). The low-income rate for those over 55 years is lower reflecting the impact of government transfers aimed at seniors.

Poverty and low-income in Canada have been the focus of a number of recent reports. In its 2008 Report Card, The Conference Board of Canada describes an "unacceptably high rate of poverty among working population" in Canada. The United Nations (UN) Human Rights Council reported in December 2008 that Canada's minimum wage results in an income that is below the Low-income Cut Off level (LICO), a commonly used measure of poverty (Working Group on the Universal Periodic Review, 2008). The Senate of Canada, Subcommittee on Cities (2008) reported that "labour force participation is no longer enough to keep Canadians out of poverty." Despite these and other criticisms, in early June 2009, Canada rejected the UN Human Rights Council recommendation for the development of a national strategy to eliminate poverty (Canada, 2009).

An OECD report (2008) noted that 22 percent of all Canadian workers earned two thirds or less of the median earnings for Canadians. And the proportion of low wage workers is growing: between 2000 and 2008, the proportion of minimum wage jobs grew from 4.7 percent to 5.2 percent of all jobs and the number working at minimum wage grew by three quarters of a million workers. While many of these jobs may be held by young people starting out, four in ten of them in 2007 were held by people over the age of 25 years.

Low-income Canadians appear to be more "at risk" in the current economic environment than they were in the past. In 2008, the UN Human Rights Council expressed concern about Canada's rate of food insecurity. Median incomes for full time, full year work increased by \$600 or 1.5 percent in the 15 years from 1990 to 2005 (Statistics Canada, 2008b). In comparison, shelter costs increased by 18.5 percent between 2001 and 2006 and inflation was 11.26 percent. The result is that more and more Canadians can't make ends meet. This is evident in the 42 percent increase in new clients at Credit Canada over the past year (Recession Relief Coalition, 2009). In June 2009, Food Banks Canada reported a 20 percent increase in the number of Canadians turning to food banks each month. Nearly 15 percent of food bank users in Canada get all their income from work and still aren't able to care for and feed their family (Food Banks Canada, 2008).

The situation is similar for people relying on social assistance or other forms of income support. The Senate of Canada described Canada's income support programs as "broken" (Senate, 2008). The UN Human Rights Council (2008) noted that social assistance rates are lower in most provinces and territories than they were a decade ago. A recent report, Exposed: Revealing the Gaps documents the changes to Canada's jobless benefits programs from the early Unemployment Insurance program with benefits of up to 75 percent to the current Employment Insurance program with 55 percent benefit levels and restrictive eligibility criteria (Yalnizyan, 2009).

Income inequality is growing. After 20 years of decline, both inequality and poverty rates in Canada have increased in the past 10 years and they are now higher than the OECD average

(OECD, 2008). As well, our rate of growth of income inequality in the upper half of incomes is greater than in the United States (Green & Milligan, 2007). This is largely because the highest income groups are growing in numbers and their incomes are increasing, serving to widen the gap between high and low-income Canadians. In 2000, the top 5 percent earned 39 times more than the bottom 5 percent (Green & Milligan, 2007). Other analysis shows that the middle class, those earning \$30,000 to 59,999, has been shrinking over the past 25 years (Curry-Stevens, 2009). In their 2008 Report Card, the Conference Board of Canada gave Canada a 'C' for income inequality.

Manufacturing and blue collar workers, clerical employees and retail sales persons had little or no growth in their level of earnings between 1997 and 2007 (Morissette, 2008). Canada has one of the highest proportions of low paid workers among similar OECD countries (LaRochelle-Cote & Dionne, 2009). One in seven full time workers was paid \$10 or less an hour in 2004 (LaRochelle-Cote & Dionne, 2009).

The recession is not likely to help this situation. In July 2009, the CIW released a special report, The Economic Crisis through the Lens of Economic Wellbeing (Sharpe & Arsenault, 2009). The report comments that the current recession will erase many of the economic and standard of living gains made since the mid-1990s. Unemployment and poverty will likely continue to rise and stay at high levels for years. The report points out that there has been a great loss of income since the onset of the recession and the hardest hit have been the bottom 20 percent of households. Based on previous recessions, the report predicts that unemployment will likely peak at around 10 percent in 2010 and the poverty rate will rise to 13.2 percent in 2010.

In the previous recessions (1981–1984 and 1989 –1993), the lowest decile or bottom 10 percent of income earners lost 60 percent and 86 percent of their incomes and gained some but not all of the losses back in the related recovery period (Curry-Stevens, 2009). By contrast, the top 30 percent of incomes gained back more in the recovery periods than they lost in the recessions (Curry-Stevens, 2009). The middle class lost income in the 1980, 1989, 1993 and 2000 recessions and shrank in size by about 25 percent over the 20 years in proportion to other income groups (Curry-Stevens, 2009).

About 71 percent of those affected in Canada by the recession are men; in the US, the estimates are as high as 80 percent, prompting some observers to call it a 'he-cession' (Hennessy & Yalnizyan, 2009). The unemployment gender gap is wider in Canada than it has been since 1976 when Statistics Canada began to collect monthly unemployment statistics (Hennessy & Yalnizyan, 2009). Job losses have been concentrated in the middle age groups, those between 24 – 54 years and younger workers, under 25 years.

The 2009 recession appears to have some of the same characteristics as previous recessions. Job and income losses have affected lower income households more than higher income households. However, upper income households have been most affected by the decline in the dollar value and net worth of their household wealth. If past history holds true, one could expect that the inequality will increase to levels higher than previous pre-recession levels in the recovery phase (Sharpe & Arsenault, 2009).

Low-income, Employment and Education

Much is written about the growth of low wage precarious, insecure, and uncertain work. In 2004, 37 percent of all workers in Canada were employed in insecure, part time, temporary jobs, and often they were self-employed or working in multiple jobs (Wellesley Institute, 2008). As part time work has increased, full time employment has declined as a percentage of total jobs. The recession is speeding up this change. Between October 2008 and March 2009, Canada lost 387,000 full time jobs or 2.8 percent of the full time job market and gained 30,000 part time jobs (Yalnizyan, 2009). Women and racial minority men and women tend to work in low paying part time and insecure jobs (Lightman, Mitchell & Wilson, 2008).

Education, employment and income are linked. Statistics Canada describes education as a 'gateway' to higher earnings (Statistics Canada, 2008b). It is a critical factor in explaining much of the growing income inequality between households with a university level education and those with high school or less. This relationship does not hold true for immigrants, particularly recent immigrants, who often have higher levels of education yet face significant related employment barriers. Education is also a point of divergence for health, as the CIW report on *Healthy Populations* showed, people with higher education are healthier than people with less education.

Some workers are less likely to receive on the job training sponsored by the employer which serves to further disadvantage them in the labour market. A recent study found that four groups of Canadian workers – low wage, female, lower education and non-union – are less likely to receive training opportunities from their employer. The study also found that when offered, these four groups were also less likely to decline the training opportunity (Cooke, Zeytinoglu & Chowhan, 2009).

The Conference Board (2008) reports that while Canada has dropped from an 'A' to a 'B' grade in education over the past 10 years it is still an exceptional performer that ranks second in the sixteen OECD countries that were ranked as part of the analysis. The report however noted that about 7 million working age people in Canada don't have the literacy skills needed for the workforce. Their lack of education affects employability which, in turn, affects income prospects and contributes to the entrenched and growing inequality.

Research has shown the importance of reading proficiency in the participation and completion of secondary and post-secondary education. It too is linked to income and the results gap between low and high income households is evident. Thirty-two percent of youth reading at Level 3 proficiency (on a 5 level scale) from the lowest income households did not complete secondary school compared to about 19 percent of those from the highest income households (Bussiere, Hebert & Knighton, 2009). In addition, literacy has an impact on income. Green and Riddell (2007) found that a 25 point increase in the average literacy score had an impact on earnings that was the equivalent of an extra year of schooling.

Low-income and Health

The CIW Healthy Populations research report concluded that Canadians generally enjoy good health and that while life expectancy is increasing, health improvements are not shared by all Canadians. People with low-income or living in low-income households, people living in poor and at risk neighbourhoods, people with lower levels of education, and members of different racial groups have not benefited equally from the overall improvements in health. For example, individuals living in households with incomes below \$20,000 are almost three times more likely to experience a decline in self-rated health than people with the highest incomes (Orpana, Lemyre & Kelly, 2007). Research from multiple sources has shown that low income Canadians have the highest mortality rates, the lowest life expectancy rates, and the highest rates of hospitalization and emergency visits.

Low-income people have overwhelmingly negative perceptions of their identities because of their low-income and their income related exclusion from mainstream society. The 'stigma' of poverty was experienced at different levels and had negative effects on their overall wellbeing, including their physical and mental health (Ruetter, Veenstra, Love, Raphael, Makwarimba, 2009). In effect, the negative self perceptions of an individual with low-income affect their health and wellbeing which in turn contributes to their poor health – a circular, no win situation.

Diabetes is an example of a chronic disease that affects some groups more than others. A recent report by the Conference Board (2009) commented that the increasing levels of mortality due to diabetes should be ringing alarm bells. The poorest 20 percent of the population, the working poor and those on social assistance, have rates of diabetes and heart disease that are more than double the rates of the richest 20 percent of the population (Wilson, Lightman & Mitchell, 2009). Household income below \$30,000 has been associated with skipping blood glucose monitoring and poor nutrition (Kwan, Razzaq, Leiter, Lillie & Hux, 2008) and socio-economic status and risk factors have been linked to hospitalization related to diabetes (Canadian Institute for Health Information, 2008).

There is also a connection between low-income and psychological stress and overall self-rated health. Men and women with low-income report lower levels of self-rated health and higher levels of distress. Low-income men are 58 percent more likely to become distressed than higher income men; low-income women are 25 percent more likely to become distressed (Orpana, Lemyre & Gravel, 2009).

Low-income and low levels of education are also barriers to participating in active leisure activities. A recent study reported that women, university educated people, married people, and those with incomes of \$60,000 were among those who were most likely to participate in active leisure activities (Hurst, 2009). It has been estimated that there would be a savings of \$150 million per year related to a 10 percent reduction in physically inactive Canadians (Hurst, 2009).

Low-income and poverty have an obvious negative effect on the health and wellbeing of those who directly experience it, but it also affects us all. It affects our children and our health, social

relationships, and communities. It also affects the economy. It is estimated that poverty costs Canada between \$24.4 and \$30.5 billion a year in health spending not including additional costs at the provincial level. The World Health Organization estimates that households with the lowest 20 percent of income account for 31 percent of health care spending on individuals (Commission on Social Determinants of Health, 2008). If incomes of those with the lowest 20 percent of income were raised to the second quintile, the 20-40 percent level, there would be health related savings of \$7.6 billion a year (Ontario Association of Food Banks, 2008). Another way of looking at it is that for every \$1,000 in additional income for the poorest 20 percent of Canadians, there will be nearly 10,000 fewer chronic conditions, and 6,600 fewer disability days lost every two weeks (Wilson, Lightman & Mitchell, 2009).

The current recession will not improve the situation. In fact, the Standing Senate Committee on Social Affairs, Science and Technology (2009) cautions that the current health disparities may widen further in the economic recession.

Low-income and Neighbourhoods

Neighbourhoods matter and belonging to a strong and positive community with a number of social contacts is good for one's wellbeing and for the community at large. Canadians, with both low and high incomes, agree that participation in community events and recreational activities is good for the health of the individuals participating and good for the community (Stewart, Reutter, Makwarimba, Love, Veenstra, Raphael, 2008). Unfortunately, the chances of having social networks and living in a strong community vary based on one's income and education.

There have been a number of studies of urban areas which compare self-reported health in high and low-income neighbourhoods. Residents in higher income urban areas report higher levels of self-rated health and satisfaction with their community than those in lower income urban areas. A 2007 report concluded that individuals living in households with incomes of \$20,000 or less a year were nearly three times more likely to experience a decline in self-rated health than people with the highest incomes (Orpana, Lemyre & Kelly, 2007). A recent study was undertaken in eight suburban neighbourhoods in the Vancouver Census Metropolitan Area that were described as having median incomes in the middle income range. Despite the focus only on middle income suburban neighbourhoods, there was some income variation between the eight neighbourhoods. Like the high and low-income neighbourhood studies, the researchers found that residents of the middle income neighbourhoods with lower median incomes were more likely than those middle income neighbourhoods with higher median incomes to rate their health as fair/poor, more likely to be dissatisfied with their neighbourhood as a place to live, and more likely to perceive their neighbourhood to be of poor quality (Hayes & Oliver, 2009).

A comparison of Dissemination Areas² within a neighbourhood in Calgary found that residents of the more disadvantaged Dissemination Areas reported significantly higher levels of fair/poor

A Dissemination Area is a small area composed of one or more neighbouring blocks, with a population of 400 to 700 persons. All of Canada is divided into dissemination areas.

or very good health as compared to excellent health. (Hainesa et al, 2009). This study also found that residents perceptions of financial security or lack of security also influenced self-reported health.

Other research has looked at the impact of low-income and neighbourhood on specific health conditions or illnesses. The City of Toronto (2008) found that low-income and disadvantaged communities have higher rates of illnesses including diabetes. Neighbourhood factors as well as diet, physical activity and pollution exposure are associated with the risk of diabetes (Finkelstein, 2008). In Ontario, women living in the lowest income quintile neighbourhoods have 25 percent higher odds of a premature birth and 46 percent higher odds of a low birth weight baby (Urquia, Frank, Glazier & Moineddin, 2007). Another study showed that children living in low-income neighbourhoods gained more weight over an eight year study period than children in middle income neighbourhoods (Oliver & Hayes, 2008).

The association between an individual's sense of belonging and their general health is complex. The *Community Vitality* report identified that volunteer activity, community trust and support for others increased with income and education level.

Stewart et al (2008) distinguished between participation in a range of social, recreational, volunteer, work and family activities and feelings of connection and exclusion through common experience activities. They found that higher income respondents participated more in activities that provided a common experience and promoted connection and inclusion in the community. The major barrier to participation for low-income individuals was financial, although barriers related to social, gender and racial background were also noted. Less than half of those with low-income felt a positive impact from their participation.

Fear of neighbourhood crime is also related to income and education. About 18 percent of urban residents, 15 years and older, reported feeling very or somewhat unsafe when they were alone in their neighbourhood after dark (Fitzgerald, 2008). This increased to 25.5 percent for those residents living in the lowest income neighbourhoods (the bottom quartile), and was 24.6 percent for residents with less than secondary school education (Fitzgerald, 2008).

Relationships have been identified between self-rated health and inclusion. Poorer health is associated with lack of inclusion. Connections have also been identified between sense of belonging and connectedness and mental health. About 81 percent of people who said they had excellent or very good mental health reported a strong sense of community belonging compared to 64 percent who reported a very weak sense of belonging (Shields, 2008). Those with the strong sense of belonging had twice the odds of reporting excellent or very good health compared to those with weak community belonging.

There is increasing recognition of the need for place based approaches to respond to some of the challenges facing communities today. The CanWest Foundation (Diers, 2008) argues that strong and inclusive communities are needed to address current challenges. Tim Brodhead,

president of McConnell Family Foundation has talked about the need for community leadership and capacity to address the deeper systemic issues (Maxwell, 2008). The United Way of Canada supports approaches to locally driven neighbourhood change in their Action for Neighbourhood Change and the related Strong Neighbourhood projects across the country. Judith Maxwell, a Senior Fellow at the Canadian Policy Research Networks³ refers to the Hamilton Roundtable on Poverty Reduction and the Toronto City Summit Alliance as examples of efforts to mobilize communities to address current problems (2008).

A Lens on Three Population Sub-Groups

The analysis contained in the three CIW research reports are based on Canadian averages – averages related to income, inequality, self-rated health, and connection to community, among other factors. Averages are an important tool to describe our current position, to measure change and assess relative positioning. They are a foundational starting point for changing the dialogue about what constitutes wellbeing in Canada. But averages tell us very little about the variations within the average.

Canada is geographically diverse, with distinct sub-economies, demographics and cultures. We know, for example, that lone parents, unattached older individuals (45 –64 years), immigrants who have been in Canada less than 10 years, persons with work-limiting disabilities, and Aboriginal peoples living off reserve are more likely to have low-income and experience poor health.

This section describes how some groups of Canadians are benefiting less than other groups in Canada's good health and growing wealth. The findings for Aboriginal peoples and racialized groups suggest ongoing inequalities based on culture and race are in addition to the income and education related inequalities that were discussed in the CIW research reports earlier in this paper.

Aboriginal Peoples

In 2006, there were 1,172,790 persons who identified themselves as Aboriginal⁴ (First Nations, Métis and Inuit) in the Census (Statistics Canada, 2008a). Canada has the second highest proportion of Aboriginal people in the world at 4 percent of the total population in 2006 behind New Zealand at 15 percent. Canada's Aboriginal population is growing – between 1996 and 2006 it grew by 45 percent, nearly six times faster than the rate of growth for the non-Aboriginal population. Within the Aboriginal population, the Métis have the highest rate of growth at 91 percent; the First Nations and Inuit grew by 29 percent and 26 percent

³ Canadian Policy Research Networks (CPRN) recently announced that it will close operations on December 31, 2009

⁴ Aboriginal is a collective term for people who self-identify as First Nations, Métis and Inuit peoples and those who report being a Treaty Indian or a Registered Indian, as defined by the Indian Act of Canada, and/or those who report that they are a member of an Indian band or First Nation. There is no legal definition of First Nations. Demographic analysis of First Nations often distinguishes between First Nations people living on and off reserve. There are more than 50 distinct Aboriginal groups each with its own language and traditional land base in Canada.

respectively between 1996 and 2006. The Aboriginal population is younger than the non-Aboriginal population – nearly half the population is 24 years and younger compared to 31 percent for the non-Aboriginal population. The median age for the Aboriginal population is 27 years compared to 40 years for the non-Aboriginal population.

The Aboriginal population has lower levels of secondary and post-secondary education than the non-Aboriginal population. Eight percent of the Aboriginal population has completed university compared with 23 percent for the non-Aboriginal population. Despite an increase from 6 percent (2001) to 8 percent (2006), the gap between university attainment for Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal adults widened (INAC, n.d.). A much higher proportion of the Aboriginal population has not completed high school than the non-Aboriginal population, 34 percent compared to 15 percent (INAC, n.d.). In the past, the Auditor General has commented on the level of funding for schools located on reserves; recently the Office of the Parliamentary Budget Officer reported that there is no specific appropriation by Parliament for the capital and operational funding of on reserve schools (Rajekar & Mathilakath, 2009).

Income and employment levels are lower as well. In 2006, 60.5 percent of First Nations adults aged 25-54 (an increase of 4 percent over 2001) were employed compared to 81.6 percent for non-Aboriginal adults (Gionet, 2009). The median annual income for First Nations people aged 15 and over in Canada was \$14,517 in 2005, about \$11,000 lower than the figure for the non-Aboriginal population (\$25,955). The income gap is unchanged from 2000 (Gionet, 2009). Off reserve First Nations people had higher income levels than those living on reserve.

The June 2009 report of the Standing Senate Committee on Social Affairs, Science and Technology commented that "There are striking disparities between Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal Canadians in most health determinants and the gaps are widening. In particular, the socio-economic conditions in which Aboriginal peoples live are often cited as being similar to those in developing countries. This situation is not only deplorable, it is simply unacceptable" (Standing Senate Committee, 2009).

Aboriginal peoples experience persistent health and income inequities that are exacerbated by discrimination, described as "virulent and entrenched" (McMurtry & Curling, 2009), and a sense of exclusion. Canada's First Nations communities were ranked at 68 out of 177 countries using the United Nations Human Development Index which measures health, knowledge and standard of living (UNICEF, 2009). In contrast, Canada ranked 3rd (UNICEF, 2009). This example highlights the significant equity gap as well as the importance of looking at the experience of specific groups that get lost within a national average or measure.

Just over one third of First Nations households lived in poverty in 2001 (Ontario Association of Food Banks, 2008). They experience very high rates of child poverty with an estimated one in every two Aboriginal children living below the poverty line (Bennett & Blackstock, 2007). Poverty is linked to increasing levels of obesity in Aboriginal teens (Spurr, 2007). Aboriginal peoples have lower life expectancy than other Canadians, and Inuit have the lowest life expectancy of Aboriginal peoples at 12 years less than the Canadian average. Between 2002 and 2006, the tuberculosis rate among the Inuit was 90 times higher than in the non-Aboriginal

population in Canada (Minsky, 2009). The life expectancy gap is widening, not decreasing for the Inuit (Statistics Canada, 2008a).

Internationally, the UN Human Rights Working Committees have expressed concern, first in 2003 and again in 2008, about the health of Aboriginal children and the social, economic and health disparities between Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal people.

Aboriginal children are the fastest growing group in Canada's population. While progress has been made in lowering infant mortality rates, increasing education levels and improving social conditions, there is still much to be done. UNICEF (2009) described the health disparities facing First Nations, Inuit and Metis children as 'one of the most significant children's rights challenges facing our nation'.

Aboriginal children are more likely than non-Aboriginal children to live with a lone parent, grandparent or other relative. The Assembly of First Nations has filed a complaint to the Human Rights Commission about the underfunding of First Nations child welfare, estimated to be about 22% lower than for non-Aboriginal funding levels (Aboriginal Child & Family). About 54 percent of Aboriginal people live in urban areas – this proportion increased from 50 percent in 1996. Aboriginal people are almost four times more likely than non-Aboriginal people to live in a crowded dwelling and are three times as likely to live in a dwelling in need of major repairs. (Statistics Canada, 2008a)

Aboriginal youth have lower rates of educational attainment. In 1996, 44 percent of Aboriginal people over the age of 14 had not completed high school compared to 23 percent of non-Aboriginal Canadians (Sharpe, Arsenault, Lapointe & Cowan, 2009).

The prevalence of overweight and obesity is much higher in Aboriginal populations than the rest of the population in Canada. Interestingly this pattern is also evident in the Aboriginal population in United States, Australia and New Zealand (Garriguet, 2008). A study was conducted, using the previous Canada Food Guide, comparing Canadian off reserve Aboriginal men and women, 19 to 50 years, to a similar non-Aboriginal group of men and women. Off reserve Aboriginal women received 35 percent of their average daily calories from the 'other food' group (992 Canada's Food Guide) compared to 24 percent for non-Aboriginal women and had one less serving of fruits and vegetables and grains (Garriguet, 2008). They also consumed less dairy products. The experience of off reserve Aboriginal men was similar - they consumed less protein and less dairy products. Neither groups of men consumed the recommended amount of fruit and vegetables (Garriguet, 2008). In contrast to the non-Aboriginal population, off reserve Aboriginal men and women with lower household incomes were more likely to be obese or overweight. Off reserve Aboriginal women had significantly higher rates of overweight and obesity that were associated with their higher caloric intake. These findings warrant concern - obesity is recognized as a risk factor in diabetes, cardiovascular diseases and other serious health problems. In addition, the foods that are missing from the off reserve Aboriginal diets are foods that help reduce and control diabetes and other diseases.

Aboriginal peoples have lower levels of self-rated health than the total Canadian population. According to the 2006 Aboriginal Peoples Survey, the number of Inuit adults over 15 years who report that their health is excellent or very good has dropped from 56 percent in 2001 to 50 percent in 2006 (Tait, 2008). Overall, fewer Inuit people report that their health is excellent or very good compared to the total Canadian population. This finding is similar for the Métis adult population, however in 2006, a higher proportion (62 percent) of Métis adults over 15 years reported their health was excellent or very good (Janz, Seto, Turner, 2009).

Others (Soroka, Johnston & Banting, 2007) have highlighted the persistent inequity in health of Aboriginal peoples and commented that the lack of belonging, power, participation and empowerment of Aboriginal peoples is a great challenge to social cohesion in Canada. Aboriginal people reported a lower sense of community belonging and connectedness than White people; 54 percent compared to 65 percent (Shields, 2008). There is a strong relationship between low household income and low levels of community belonging and also between self-rated physical and mental health and sense of belonging. Studies have demonstrated that Aboriginal youth suicide increases in communities where there is a lack of cultural continuity, power, social participation and empowerment (Commission on Social Determinants, 2008).

Aboriginal peoples have higher levels of unmet health care needs, particularly those in off reserve and remote areas as evidenced by recent media reports regarding cases of HINI virus. They experience higher rates of obesity, diabetes and other chronic illnesses that are associated with income and education (Public Health Agency of Canada, 2008).

In addition to the individual and social costs of exclusion, low-income and poor health, there are significant economic costs. One estimate calculates the cost of the use of government services and benefits by the Aboriginal population at \$6.2 billion in 2006 (Sharpe, Arsenault, Lapointe & Cowan, 2009). It is argued that if the Aboriginal population were to attain education and labour market outcomes similar to the non-Aboriginal population, the government balance sheets would improve by nearly \$12 billion in 2026 including additional tax revenues of \$3.5 billion (Sharpe et al., 2009).

Racialized Groups

Over 5 million or 16.2 percent of all Canadians reported in the 2006 Census that they belonged to a visible minority⁵ (Statistics Canada, 2008f). Between 2001 and 2006, Canada's visible minority population increased by 27.2 percent, or five times faster than the growth rate of the total population (Statistics Canada, 2008f). Three in ten visible minorities were Canadian born in 2006; the remainder came to Canada as immigrants (Statistics Canada, 2008f).

Visible minorities tend to be younger than the non-visible minority population. In 2006, the median age of the visible minority population of 33 years was lower than the median for the total population in Canada (39 years) (Statistics Canada, 2008f). Visible minority populations

⁵ Visible minorities refer to persons who are non-Caucasian in race or non-white in colour.

have a larger proportion of younger children, 14 years and younger, than the total population, 22.6 percent compared to 17.9 percent (Statistics Canada, 2008f). Nearly 96 percent of all visible minorities live in a census metropolitan area in Canada.

There is an increasing awareness of the racialization of poverty and the disproportionate and persistent incidence of low-income among racialized groups⁶ in Canada (Children's Aid Society, 2008). Visible minority or racialized groups are three times more likely to be poor than other Canadians because of levels of education, barriers to employment and low wages. They are also more likely to be poor because of persistent social exclusion and because of racialization in the labour market (Colour of Poverty 2007 and Galabuzi, 2009). This situation will be exacerbated in the current economic recession with the loss of lower wage jobs. McMurtry and Curling (2009) described exclusion as "a seemingly more entrenched and often more virulent form of racism."

The Community Vitality Report noted that average Canadians felt a strong sense of belonging to their local communities. Many racialized groups however report lower sense of community connectedness and belonging than non-racialized groups. Compared to 65 percent of Whites, almost 54 percent of Blacks and Latin Americans and 52 percent of Southeast Asians reported a strong sense of community belonging (Shields, 2008). The Community Vitality Report also reported that over the past ten years, a higher proportion of Canadians feel safe walking alone after dark. Visible minority Canadians feel less safe in their communities than non-visible minorities. Compared to 18 percent of Canadians living in urban areas, about 20 percent of visible minority residents reported feeling very or somewhat unsafe while alone in their urban neighbourhoods after dark (Fitzgerald, 2008).

Social exclusion and reports of discrimination are persistent in racialized communities and within groups of racialized youth. About 81 percent of visible minorities felt that they had experienced discrimination because of their race or ethnic origin (Perreault, 2008). Nearly twice as many visible minorities as non-visible minorities reported that they had experienced discrimination (Perreault, 2008).

Racialized men and women are more likely than other groups, except non racialized women, to be working in insecure part time, low wage work (Lightman, Mitchell and Wilson, 2008). Galabuzi (2009) looked at the socio-economic status of racialized groups and found a gap in the economic performance of racialized groups in terms of income, unemployment, skills utilization, and labour market participation. This inequality leads to the increased likelihood of low-income for racialized groups. In the same way that there is an income gap between higher and lower income Canadians, there is evidence of an income gap based on race and a gap between racialized and non-racialized immigrants. The Conference Board of Canada estimates the wage gap at 14.5 percent (2009).

There is little expectation that the current recession will improve the situation – now or in the future. Based on a historical analysis of the economic performance of racialized groups, Galabuzi (2009) commented that economic exclusion persisted even in situations of economic

⁶ The term racialized groups is used in this context to categorize or describe groups of people on the basis on race.

expansion – without deliberate attention, it is not likely that the anticipated economic recovery will do much to change past patterns. Organizations and employers, despite the recognition of the benefits of diversity, failed to follow through with action and their performance in addressing diversity in the workplace has been described as mediocre (Conference Board, 2009).

There also appears to be evidence of an achievement gap for children - a recent Toronto District School Board report (O'Reilly & Yau, 2009) identified a clear gap in grade 3 and 6 EQAO tests based on race, income, marital status, and parent's level of education. Some of the differences were as high as 40 percent in math. The report found lower levels of participation of racialized children in pre-school programs and sports and recreation programs. The UN Human Rights Council (Working Group, 2008) commented on the high drop out rate for older Afro-Canadian students and referred to difficulties these youth experience in school.

At the university level, the situation is similar. It is estimated that 33 percent of Canadian children (children of Canadian born parents) will complete university (Abada et al, 2008). Performance of racialized groups varies considerably with about 23 percent of first generation and immigrant children from Caribbean and Latin American parents and less than 20 percent of children of Fillpino parents completing university (Abada et al., 2008). As level of education affects employment and income, these findings suggest that the racialized income gap will be maintained for some time in the absence of appropriate interventions.

The association between an individual's sense of belonging and their general health is different for different groups. The 2008 Roots of Violence report on youth violence in Ontario heard of many youth who rarely left their neighbourhoods suggesting "a very real feeling of social exclusion from the rest of the city" (McMurtry & Curling, 2008). The recent UN Human Rights Council Periodic Review (Working Group, 2008) recommended that Canada develop measures to strengthen representation of Black and Aboriginal communities at the federal and provincial levels in public office – to include them in government decision making processes.

Findings that visible minorities are less confident that they fully belong in Canada (Banting, Courchene, Seidle, 2007) and evidence of increasing ghettoization based on race has implications for social inclusion and engagement. The growing racialization of poverty has been described as the 'big elephant in the room' (Galabuzi, 2007).

Youth

Over the past five years, the number of children 15 years and younger declined by 2.5 percent to about 5.6 million (Martel, 2008). In about 15 years, the number of children under 15 years will be outnumbered by the number of seniors. While Canada is one of the youngest countries in the G8, we are aging quickly.

The CIW Health Populations research report commented on the decline in self-rated health by youth. Socio-economic, cultural and childhood experiences shape youth who mature into healthy, productive adults facing different futures than adults before them. Monitoring these influences and transitions on the wellbeing of youth is important.

Young people's health is influenced by their parent's social and economic status. Research suggests that the effects of family status can be felt on a child as early as 10 years of age (White, Sterniczuk, Ramsay & Warner, 2007). Poor children show higher incidences of most health—related problems than non-poor children. For example, about one quarter of children in low-income two parent families have some kind of psychiatric, schooling or social problems. This rises to 43 percent for children from low-income single parent families (Ontario Association of Food Banks, 2008). Children are influenced by and bring these and other health related problems with them into their youth.

Youth health and wellbeing also vary depending on racial background. White youth reported higher levels of wellbeing than racial minority youth and two times higher than Aboriginal youth (White et al., 2007). Racial minority youth have higher perceptions of discrimination based on religion, race and gender than White or Aboriginal youth.

Children and youth who participate in sports and physical activity have higher levels of self-rated health. Children and youth with healthy eating habits also have better self-rated health (Martz, 2008). Both access to healthy and nutritious food and access to sports and extracurricular activities are related to income.

Youth are delaying the transition into independence. An older report from the Canadian Council on Social Development (Myles, 2005) describes the situation as 'postponed adulthood' and notes that over 40 percent of young adults in their 20s are living at home, an increase from the 20 percent level in 1970. Earnings of young adults relative to other earners have been falling over the past 20 years and young adults are entering employment later than ever before. Earnings are distributed differently than in the past and the level of wealth accumulated by adults in their mid-30s has been falling since the end of the 1970s. The result is postponed adulthood and postponed independence.

This trend is reflected in a decline in jobless youth (defined as the proportion of people aged 20-24 who are neither working nor attending school), from 22.7 percent in 1985 to 13 percent in 2006 (Conference Board, 2009). Canada ranked 9th out of 17 countries on this measure (Conference Board, 2009). While youth seem to be postponing the transition and staying in school longer, there is criticism that these youth are not acquiring the skills and abilities to support the move to work and independence.

An International Lens

The CIW is an important initiative that serves as a lens for looking at Canada's state of wellbeing. The work of the CIW is part of a global movement to highlight the need for measuring wellbeing in societies and developing ways and means for international comparisons.

The United Nations conducts reviews to provide an external perspective and hold countries accountable for their Human Rights and other international commitments. These reviews focus on the legislative, infrastructure and policy framework in member countries – they may be

specific reviews, as in a recent housing review, or broader and regular reviews of overall Human Rights framework including equality, administration of justice, conditions of work, freedom of religion or belief, right to education, minorities and indigenous people.

Many of the issues and concerns highlighted in the three CIW research reports have also been discussed in recent UN reports on Canada. For example, the December 2008 report reviews Canada's compliance with various Human Rights commitments and undertakings. It reported positively on progress made in some areas and identified a range of issues and concerns for follow-up, some of which have already been noted in this paper. The report commented that minority groups, particularly Afro-Canadians and Aboriginal peoples faced discrimination both in employment and in earnings from that employment. It commented on the 'dramatic inequality' in living standards of Aboriginal peoples and recognized Canada's more recent efforts to improve the situation for Aboriginal children. The report suggested that marginalized communities should be given opportunities to participate meaningfully in decisions, reflecting the discussion about inclusion and social cohesion in the CIW research reports. It also commented on Canada's low minimum wage and social assistance rates and noted that 7.4 percent of the population experiences food insecurity because of low-income.

The UN Special Rapporteur on Housing (2009) referred to a previous review of Canada's compliance with the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights which called Canada's state of homelessness and inadequate housing a national emergency. The Special Rapporteur recommended the development and implementation of a properly funded poverty reduction strategy that was respectful of human rights.

These comments from two recent UN reports serve to reinforce the main findings of the three CIW research reports. Poverty, income inequality, inadequate shelter and food, discrimination and racism, and exclusion are issues that Canada needs to deal with. Canadians want to see evidence of improved wellbeing and the international community expects to see better Human Rights outcomes.

International comparisons and measurements show what is achievable in practice and in different public policy and program contexts. They provide a lens through which we can assess and compare the impact and outcomes of our programs and policies.

So how is Canada doing?

• In 2008, the Organization of Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) commented on the significant increase in inequality of earnings between rich, middle and poor income households in Canada. They also commented that the levels of inequality are higher in Canada than in many other OECD countries. Interestingly, Canada's inequality ratios (for market income) are very similar to those in China, however, our tax and transfer programs significantly lower the after tax income gap (Green & Milligan, 2007). In a recent comparison, Canada ranked 12th out of 17 countries in measures of income inequality (Conference Board, 2009).

- The OECD (2008) noted that Canada spends less on benefits such as unemployment and family benefits than most OECD countries. Despite the China example above, our tax and transfer benefits do not reduce inequality by as much as in many other countries and their effect on inequality has been declining over time. For example, poverty rates in Nordic countries are similar to Canada but when taxes and transfers are taken into account, the poverty rates in Nordic countries fall to levels substantially lower than in Canada (WHO, 2008). Working age poverty has been identified as a significant concern Canada does not compare well to other countries, ranking 15th out of 17 countries on measures of working age poverty (Conference Board, 2009).
- Canada ranked 12 out of 21 rich countries in a 2007 UNICEF report card on child poverty. In another UNICEF report card (2008) measuring quality of early childhood services, Canada tied for last with two other countries in a ranking of 25 industrialized countries Canada met fewer than 3 of the 10 minimum standards for early childhood services. The Conference Board 2009 Report Card ranked Canada 13th out of 17 peer countries in child poverty and noted that one in seven children live in poverty in Canada.
- Canadians are happy with their lives, but less happy than they used to be. While Canada ranked 8th in terms of life satisfaction for OECD countries, it was one of only five countries that registered a decline in satisfaction between 2000 and 2006 (OECD, 2009). The other countries were Portugal, Hungary, the United States and Japan.
- In a June 2009 report, the Standing Senate Committee on Social Affairs, Science and Technology commented that Canada has fallen behind countries such as the United Kingdom and Sweden in applying the population health knowledge base that had been largely developed in Canada and that the lack of action had led to an unacceptable widening of health disparities in Canada.

Levels of wellbeing relate to the policy and program context – they are not inevitable. In general, countries with more generous social protection systems tend to have better population health outcomes.

These and other reports also recognized the need for a different, integrated approach to the challenges that face public policy makers. Internationally, the WHO Commission on Social Determinants of Health (2008) referred to the need for a broadened focus and web of players. The UNICEF report (2009) commented that inherent inequities in the Canadian governance structure is a fundamental contributing factor to health disparities and recommended the removal of jurisdictional boundaries that block effective health care. Closer to home, the Senate Sub-Committee on Cities commented that the federal, provincial and territorial governments weren't organized to deliver a coordinated response to poverty, housing and homelessness. Another Senate Committee, this time on Population Health (2008), recognized the need for coordination among different government departments, collaboration among all levels and the participation of a range of stakeholders including communities and the private and non-profit sectors. The Roots of Violence report concluded that only an integrated and collaborative approach to the roots of violence would succeed (McMurtry and Curling, 2009). The State of

Public Health in Canada (2008) recommended inter-sectoral action through integrated coherent policies and joint action within and outside the formal health care sector.

Canada also needs more robust, available and consistent data for analysis and measurement at national, regional and local levels. The three research reports of the CIW highlight challenges with data availability and consistency. Canada's data challenges have been noted internationally – the UN High Commissioner (2008) commented that Canada doesn't have national statistics on adequate housing as set out in the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights even though it is a signatory to the covenant.

Conclusions

The CIW has been successful in elevating the level of dialogue about wellbeing in Canada in its First Report, *How are Canadians Really doing?* This report identified national trends in the areas of Living Standards, Healthy Populations and Community Vitality and highlighted key areas of concerns for some sub-populations in Canada.

This paper digs deeper to look at low-income Canadians and at three groups identified in the CIW's First Report: Aboriginal peoples, racialized groups and youth. It reports on findings from recent research to provide a better understanding of the state of their wellbeing. It is important to note that each of the three groups is diverse and includes people with different characteristics and experiences. Inequality and vulnerability are reinforced by the interconnection of many factors such as gender, age, race/ethnicity, and disability, not just the ones considered in this paper. The issues are complex. There is not one 'problem'; neither is there one solution.

How are Canadians Really doing?

In answer to the question, 'How are Canadians Really doing', it is clear that many Canadians face situations that put them at risk of lower levels of wellbeing. Minimum wage income levels are not sufficient to keep individuals out of poverty, there is a continuing income divide between the higher and lower paid, and the recession is affecting some groups of workers – men in particular – more than others. Full time employment is declining. Education is important, but it is not fully accessible to all Canadians. Low-income affects the health of Canadians. Research shows that it affects how Canadians perceive their state of health and that it has a direct impact on physical health (diabetes, heart disease, etc.) and on mental health and stress. Neighbourhoods also affect the health of their residents – they support or inhibit connection with others, a sense of belonging through participation and inclusion. Low-income people generally have lower levels of connection to their neighbourhood.

The findings show that low-income, Aboriginal, racialized and youth population groups are being left behind and are not sharing in the wealth, health and strong community that Canada has worked to develop. They rate their own health as less 'good' and have lower actual physical and mental health outcomes. These groups tend to have less physical activity, lower levels of engagement and connection to the community. Aboriginal and racialized communities face discrimination and exclusion which has also been noted in international reviews of Canada. These findings highlight the need to acknowledge the ongoing impact of racism and the need for policy interventions that are tailored to excluded groups.

How do Canadians compare with others?

One of the objectives of the CIW is to empower Canadians to compare their wellbeing both with others within Canada and those around the world. It is working with partners around the world to establish a higher standard of comparability of wellbeing between countries. In the meantime, one way to understand how we compare internationally is to look at our international commitment and how we measure up.

The findings from the review of international reports suggest that we should be doing better. In particular they highlighted the need for improvement in wellbeing for specific groups of Canadians – persons with low-income, Aboriginal peoples, racialized groups and youth. The findings also highlighted the importance of learning how different policy and program contexts affect outcomes.

Moving forward

Recent polls show that there is widespread support among Canadians for government action based on shared values particularly related to income and poverty. An Environics poll (Hennessy, 2008) reported that 81 percent of respondents said that during a recession it was more important than ever for governments to make helping poor Canadians a priority. Ninety-three percent said that if other countries could succeed in significantly reducing the number of poor people that Canada should be able to do so as well. Another survey reported that about three quarters of respondents agreed that government policies might be responsible for poverty and that nearly 60 percent agreed that most people are poor because there are unequal opportunities in society (Reutter, Veenstra, Stewart, Raphael, Love, Makwarimba & McMurray, 2006). Good policy must be based on shared values that are reflected in national goals for measuring and improving health and wellbeing.

The findings also reinforce the importance of drilling down and developing a complementary analysis of wellbeing at the sub-population and regional basis to understand the implications of national trends for select groups of Canadians. The CIW will continue to highlight these issues in reports like this one and to work with others who bring a more focused lens to these variations and inequalities.

Many of the reports and studies reviewed for this paper call for joined up, integrated and intersectoral action – different terminology, but essentially the same message as shared destiny and connecting the dots which underpin the CIW principles and values. Benefits of a more integrated approach within government, between different levels of government and between government and the critically important third sector would be felt in policy making, program planning and delivery and in frameworks for measuring and reporting on wellbeing.

Despite the growing consensus that we need to change the way that we plan and work together – the process of changing our public policy institutions and structures is complicated and needs time and vision to effect and embed the change. We need to measure and evaluate the impact of the change on Canadian's wellbeing and on the wellbeing of Canadians living in vulnerable circumstances as part of public policy making process.

Need for better tools

We need valid and reliable measurement tools and processes to be able to understand our current position and to monitor and measure change from that position. The first three domain reports highlight a range of data challenges associated with our measurement work. Canada needs more robust, available and consistent data for analysis and measurement at

national, regional and local levels. We are not alone in highlighting the data issue in Canada; for example, the UN High Commissioner recently commented that Canada does not have adequate national statistics on housing.

The CIW is a significant addition to our measurement toolkit but it too relies on robust data which is not always available at the national and sub-national levels. The need for increased strategic data collection at all levels is required to deepen our understanding of what constitutes quality of life in Canada.

In conclusion, this paper demonstrates the value of informed discussions of our state of wellbeing. The paper also reinforces the need to integrate and cross boundaries in policy and program responses and the need for enhanced quality of life measurement in Canada.

The CIW plays a critical role in facilitating the discussion on the state of wellbeing of Canadians – it provides the national context for the discussion. In addition, the CIW Network will continue to work with researchers, indicator practitioners and community groups who are addressing specific wellbeing issues related to sub-populations, regions, provinces and communities.

References

- Abada, Teresa, Hou, Feng, Ram, Bali. (2008). Group Differences in Educational Attainment Among the Children of Immigrants. Analytical Studies Branch Research Paper Series, Catalogue no. I I F00 I 9M No. 308. Ottawa, Canada: Statistics Canada. Retrieved from http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/11f0019m/11f0019m2008308-eng.pdf
- Akbari, Ather H.. (2008). The Role of Networks in Economic Integration of New Arrivals. Our Diverse Cities, 5, Spring 2008, pp. 88 90. Canada: Metropolis. Retrieved from http://canada.metropolis.net/pdfs/Pgs_ODC_spring2008_networks_e.pdf
- Asher, Kathryn, MacKinnon, Alexander and Perry, Matthew. (2008). Poverty and Plenty II: A Statistical Snapshot of the Quality of Life in Saint John. Saint John, Canada: Vibrant Communities.

 Retrieved from http://www.humandevelopmentcouncil.nb.ca/Poverty%20&%20Plenty%20II%20Summary.pdf
- Assembly of First Nations Terminology Fact Sheet. Retrieved from www.afn.ca/article.asp?id=437
- Banting, Keith, Courchene, Thomas J. and Seidle, F. Leslie. (2007). Conclusion: Diversity, Belonging and Shared Citizenship in Belonging? Diversity, Recognition and Shared Citizenship in Canada. pp. 647-688. Montreal, Canada: Institute for Research on Public Policy.
- Baroni, Nancy, Pechford, Nancy, Yalnizyan, Armine and Foster, John W. (2008). Rights, budgets and building alternatives. Toronto, Canada: Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives. Retrieved from http://www.policyalternatives.ca/~ASSETS/DOCUMENT/National_Office_Pubs/2008/Social_Watch_Canada2008.pdf
- Bennett, Marlyn and Blackstock, Cindy. (2007). Editorial. First Peoples Child & Family Review. 3(3), pp. 3 5. Retrieved from http://www.fncfcs.com/pubs/vol3num3/Editorial_pp5.pdf
- Bernard, Andre. (2008). Study: Immigrants in the hinterlands. Perspectives on Labour and Income, January 2008. Ottawa, Canada: Statistics Canada. Retrieved from http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/75-001-x/2008101/pdf/10505-eng.pdf
- Bussiere, Patrick, Hebert, Roland, Knighton, Tamara. (2009). Educational outcomes at age 21 associated with reading ability at age 15. Education Matters: Insights on Education, Learning and Training in Canada, 6(2), Ottawa, Canada: Statistics Canada's Centre for Education Statistics. Retrieved from http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/81-004-x/2009002/article/10896-eng.htm
- Canada. (2009). Canada's Report To The UN Human Rights Council, Working Group On The Universal Periodic Review, Fourth Session, 2-13 February 2009, National Report Submitted In Accordance With Paragraph 15 (A) Of The Annex To Human Rights Council Resolution 5/1. Retrieved from http://lib.ohchr.org/HRBodies/UPR/Documents/Session4/CA/A HRC WG6 4 CAN 1 E.pdf

- Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives Manitoba Office. (2008). Fast Facts: Putting Our Housing in Order. State of the Inner City Report: 2008. Winnipeg, Canada: Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives Manitoba Office. Retrieved from http://www.policyalternatives.ca/~ASSETS/DOCUMENT/Manitoba_Pubs/2008/SIC.pdf
- Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives. (2006). Growing Gap, Growing Concerns: Canadian Attitudes Towards Income Inequality. Toronto, Canada: Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives.

 Retrieved from http://www.growinggap.ca/files/Growing Gap Growing Concerns.pdf
- Canadian Index of Wellbeing. (2009). The CIW at a Glance. Retrieved from www.ciw.ca.
- Canadian Institute for Health Information. (2008). Health Indicators 2008. Ottawa, Canada: Canadian Institute for Health Information. Retrieved from http://secure.cihi.ca/cihiweb/dispPage.jsp?cw_page=PG_1350_E&cw_topic=1350&cw_rel=AR_1_52_E
- Canadian Institute for Health Information. (2008). Reducing Gaps in Health: A Focus on Socio-Economic Status in Urban Canada. Ottawa, Canada: Canadian Institute for Health Information. Retrieved from http://secure.cihi.ca/cihiweb/products/Reducing_Gaps_in_Health_Report_EN_081009.pdf
- Canadian Institute for Health Information. (2008). A Framework for Health Outcomes Analysis:

 Diabetes and Depression Case Studies. Ottawa, Canada: Canadian Institute for Health
 Information. Retrieved from http://secure.cihi.ca/cihiweb/products/health_outcomes_web_e.pdf
- Canada: (2009) Canada's Universal Periodic Review Response to the Recommendations. Ottawa, Canada: Canadian Heritage. Retrieved from http://www.pch.gc.ca/pgm/pdp-hrp/inter/101-eng.cfm
- Centre for Equality in Housing Rights. (2009). "sorry it's rented." Measuring Discrimination in the Toronto Rental Housing Market. Retrieved from http://www.equalityrights.org/cera/docs/CERAFinalReport.pdf
- Children's Aid Society of Toronto. (2008). Greater Trouble in Greater Toronto: Child Poverty in the GTA. Toronto, Canada: Children's Aid Society of Toronto. Retrieved from http://www.campaign2000.ca/GreaterTroubleGreaterTorontodec2008.pdf
- Chui, Tina, Tran, Kelly and Maheux, Hélène. (2009). Immigration in Canada: A Portrait of the Foreignborn Population, 2006 Census: Findings. 2006 Census Analysis Series. Statistics Canada no. 97-557-XIE2006001. Ottawa, Canada: Statistics Canada. Retrieved from http://www12.statcan.ca/census-recensement/2006/as-sa/97-557/index-eng.cfm
- City of Toronto. (2008). Diabetes in Toronto. City of Toronto Staff Report.

- Collins, Patricia A., Hayes, Michael V. and Oliver, Lisa N. (2009). Neighbourhood Quality and Self-rated Health: A Survey of Eight Suburban Neighbourhoods in the Vancouver Census Metropolitan Area. Health & Place, 15 pp. 156-164. Toronto, Canada: Elsevier.
- Colour of Poverty. (2007). Fact Sheet. Retrieved from http://cop.openconcept.ca/
- Commission on Social Determinants of Health. (2008). Closing the Gap in a Generation: Health equity through action on the social determinants of health. Final Report of the Commission on Social Determinants of Health. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization. Retrieved from http://whqlibdoc.who.int/publications/2008/9789241563703 eng.pdf
- Community Services Council. (2008). What Have We Learned? The Strategic Social Plan for Newfoundland and Labrador: Strengthening Collaborative Approaches to Development. Discussion Paper Innovative Strategies in Government-Community Collaboration: Voluntary Sector and Citizen Engagement in Public Policy Development. St. John's, Canada: Community Services Council Newfoundland and Labrador and Memorial University. Retrieved from http://www.envision.ca/pdf/cura/CSC_Symposium_Backgrounder_May_6_2008.pdf
- Conference Board of Canada. (2009) How Canada Performs: A Report Card on Canada. Retrieved from http://www.conferenceboard.ca/HCP/default.aspx
- Cook, Brian. (2008). Food Security Issues in a Public Health Context. Antigonish, Canada: National Collaborating Centre for Determinants of Health. Retrieved from http://www.richmondfoodbank.org/documents/Hunger%20Facts/2008_Food_SecuritySynPaper.pdf
- Cooke, Gordon, Zeytinoglu, Isik, Chowhan, James. (2009). Barriers to Training Access. Perspectives. July 2009, pp. 14-25. Statistics Canada Catalogue no. 75-001-X. Ottawa, Canada: Statistics Canada. Retrieved from http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/75-001-x/2009107/pdf/10907-eng.pdf
- Curry-Stevens, Ann. (2009). "When Economic Growth Doesn't Trickle Down: The Wage Dimensions of Income Polarization" in Raphael, Dennis (Ed.). (2009). Social Determinants of Health: Canadian Perspectives, Second Edition. Toronto, Canada: Canadian Scholars' Press Inc. p. 41 60.
- De Wolff, Alice. (2008). Employment Insecurity and Health: Literature Review and Environmental Scan. Antigonish, Canada: National Collaborating Centre for Determinants of Health.
- Diers, Jim. (2008). From the Ground Up: Community's Role in Addressing Street Level Social Issues. Core Challenges Initiative Discussion Paper, 4. Canada West Foundation. Retrieved from http://www.cwf.ca/V2/files/CCI%20Diers.pdf
- Disant, Marie-Jeanne, Hébert, Cathrine, Bergeron, Odile, Bruneau, Suzanne and Lawler, James (2008). Aboriginal Youth and Social Inequalities in Health. *PopHealth Notes*, 4, pp.1-12. Retrieved from http://portail.santepop.qc.ca/fichier.php/114/t_blank

- Douglas, Heather. (2008). No One Should Be Left Behind. Calgary, Canada: The Calgary Sun and the Calgary Chamber of Commerce. Retrieved from www.calgarychamber.com.
- ElDakiky, Magdy and Shields, John. (2009). Immigration and the Demographic Challenge: A Statistical Survey of the Ontario Region. *CERIS Policy Matters*, 38. Toronto, Canada: CERIS-The Ontario Metropolis Centre. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.google.ca/search?hl=en&source=hp&q=ceris+policy+matters+38&meta=&aq=f&oq="http://www.google.ca/search?hl=en&source=hp&q=ceris+policy+matters+38&meta=&aq=f&oq="http://www.google.ca/search?hl=en&source=hp&q=ceris+policy+matters+38&meta=&aq=f&oq="http://www.google.ca/search?hl=en&source=hp&q=ceris+policy+matters+38&meta=&aq=f&oq="http://www.google.ca/search?hl=en&source=hp&q=ceris+policy+matters+38&meta=&aq=f&oq="http://www.google.ca/search?hl=en&source=hp&q=ceris+policy+matters+38&meta=&aq=f&oq="http://www.google.ca/search?hl=en&source=hp&q=ceris+policy+matters+38&meta=&aq=f&oq="http://www.google.ca/search?hl=en&source=hp&q=ceris+policy+matters+38&meta=&aq=f&oq="http://www.google.ca/search?hl=en&source=hp&q=ceris+policy+matters+38&meta=&aq=f&oq="http://www.google.ca/search?hl=en&source=hp&q=ceris+policy+matters+38&meta=&aq=f&oq="http://www.google.ca/search?hl=en&source=hp&q=ceris+policy+matters+38&meta=&aq=f&oq="http://www.google.ca/search?hl=en&source=hp&q=ceris+policy+matters+38&meta=&aq=f&oq="http://www.google.ca/search?hl=en&source=hp&q=ceris+policy+matters+38&meta=&aq=f&oq="http://www.google.ca/search?hl=en&source=hp&q=ceris+policy+matters+38&meta=&aq=f&oq="http://www.google.ca/search?hl=en&source=hp&q=ceris+policy+matters+38&meta=&aq=f&oq="http://www.google.ca/search?hl=en&source=hp&q=ceris+policy+matters+38&meta=&aq=f&oq="http://www.google.ca/search?hl=en&source=hp&q=ceris+policy+matters+38&meta=&aq=f&oq="http://www.google.ca/search?hl=en&source=hp&q=ceris+policy+matters+38&meta=&aq=f&oq="http://www.google.ca/search?hl=en&source=hp&q=ceris+policy+matters+38&meta=&aq=f&oq="http://www.google.ca/search?hl=en&source=hp&q=ceris+policy+matters+38&meta=&aq=f&oq="http://www.google.ca/search?hl=en&source=hp&q=ceris+policy+matters+38&meta=&aq=f&oq="http://www.google.ca/sear
- Fafard, Patrick. (2008). Evidence and Healthy Public Policy: Insights from Health and Political Sciences. Ottawa, Canada: Canadian Policy Research Networks. Retrieved from http://www.cprn.org/documents/50036 EN.pdf
- Federation of Canadian Municipalities. (2008). Sustaining the Momentum: Recommendations for a National Action Plan on Housing and Homelessness. Ottawa, Canada: Federation of Canadian Municipalities. Retrieved from http://intraspec.ca/FinalReport-FCMNationalActionPlanonHousing-Jan23.pdf
- Findlay, Leanne C. and Kohen, Dafna E. (2008). Aboriginal Children's Sport Participation in Canada. *Pimatisiwin. 5(1)*, pp. 286-206. Retrieved from http://www.pimatisiwin.com/uploads/2012627333.pdf
- Finkelstein, Murray M. (2008). The Prevalence of Diabetes Among Overweight and Obese Individuals is Higher in Poorer than in Richer Neighbourhoods. *Canadian Journal of Diabetes*. 32(3), pp. 190-197. Retrieved from http://www.diabetes.ca/files/C|D/Finkelstein-Sept112008.pdf
- First Nations Child & Family Caring Society of Canada. I am a witness. Retrieved from http://www.fnwitness.ca/
- Fitzgerald, Robin. (2008). Fear of Crime and the Neighbourhood Context in Canadian Cities. Crime and Justice Research Paper Series, Catalogue no. 85-561-M. Ottawa, Canada: Statistics Canada. Retrieved from http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/85-561-m/85-561-m2008013-eng.pdf
- Fong, Karen. (2009). Overcoming Structural Barriers to Labour Market Integration: An Analysis of the Toronto Region Immigrant Employment Council's Approach. *CERIS Policy Matters*, 37. Toronto, Canada: CERIS-The Ontario Metropolis Centre. Retrieved from http://ceris.metropolis.net/PolicyMatter/2009/PolicyMatters38.pdf
- Food Banks Canada. (2009). Difficult Economic Climate Increases Stress on Canadian Food Banks. Toronto, Canada: Food Banks Canada. Retrieved from http://www.cafb-acba.ca/documents/NHAD%20National%20Release%20FINAL.pdf
- Food Banks Canada. (2008). Hunger Count 2008: A Comprehensive Report on Hunger and Food Bank Use in Canada. Toronto, Canada: Food Banks Canada. Retrieved from http://foodbankscanada.ca/documents/HungerCount_en_fin.pdf

- Friedli, Lynne. (2009). Mental Health, Resiliance and Inequalities. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization, Europe. Retrieved from http://www.euro.who.int/document/e92227.pdf
- Gagnon, Francois and Kouri, Denise. (2008). Integrated Governance and Healthy Public Policy: Two Canadian Examples. National Collaborating Centre for Healthy Public Policy. Retrieved from http://www.healthypublicpolicy.ca/docs/Integrated_governance_AN.pdf
- Galabuzi, Grace-Edward. (2009) 'Social Exclusion' in Raphael, Dennis (Ed.) (2009). Social Determinants of Health: Canadian Perspectives, Second Edition. Toronto, Canada: Canadian Scholars' Press Inc., p. 252 268.
- Galarneau, Diane and Morissette, René. (2008). Immigrants' education and required job skills.

 Perspectives, December 2008, pp. 5 18. Statistics Canada Catalogue no. 75-001-X. Ottawa, Canada: Statistics Canada. Retrieved from http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/75-001-x/2008112/pdf/10766-eng.pdf (PDF Version, 152 kb)
- Garriguet, Didier. (2008). Obesity and the eating habits of the Aboriginal population. Health Reports, 19 (1), Statistics Canada Catalogue no. 82-003-X. Ottawa, Canada: Statistics Canada. Retrieved from http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/82-003-x/2008001/article/10487-eng.pdf
- Gionet, Linda. (2009). Métis in Canada: Selected Findings of the 2006 Census. Statistics Canada: Canadian Social Trends. pp. 20-24. Catalogue no. 11-008-X. Ottawa, Canada: Statistics Canada. Retrieved from http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/11-008-x/2009001/article/10769-eng.htm
- Gionet, Linda. (2009). First Nations people: Selected Findings of the 2006 Census. Statistics Canada: Canadian Social Trends. pp. 52 59. Catalogue no. 11-008 -X. Ottawa, Canada: Statistics Canada. Retrieved from http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/11-008-x/2009001/article/10864-eng.htm
- Go, Avvy, Sharman, Atulya and Casipullai, Amy. (2008). Ontario's Poverty Reduction Plan Colour of Poverty Campaign Comments. Toronto, Canada: Ontario Council of Agencies Serving Immigrants. Retrieved from http://www.ocasi.org/index.php?qid=993
- Goldenberg, Mark. (2008). A Review of Rural and Regional Development Policies and Programs.

 Ottawa, Canada: Canadian Policy Research Networks. Retrieved from http://www.cprn.org/documents/49496 EN.pdf
- Green, David A. and Milligan, Kevin. (2007). Canada's Rich and Poor: Moving in Opposite Directions. Toronto, Canada: Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives. Retrieved from http://www.growinggap.ca/files/Canadas%20Rich%20and%20Poor_I.pdf
- Green, David A. and Riddell, Craig. (2007). Literacy and the Labour Market: The Generation of Literacy and Its Impact on Earnings for Native-born Canadians. International Adult Literacy Series. Statistics Canada Catalogue no. 89-552-XIE, no. 18. Ottawa, Canada: Statistics Canada. Retreived from http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/89-552-m/89-552-m2007018-eng.pdf (PDF Version, 381 kb)

- Gurstein, Penny and Goldberg, Michael. (2008). Precarious & Vulnerable: Lone Mothers on Income Assistance. Burnaby, Canada: Social Planning and Research Council of British Columbia. Retrieved from www.sparc.bc.ca/resources-and-publications/doc/284/raw
- Haines, Valerie A., Godley, Jenny, Hawe, Penelope and Shiell, Alan. (2009). Socioeconomic Disadvantages Within a Neighbourhood, Perceived Financial Security and Self-Rated Health. Health & Place, 15 pp. 383-389. Toronto, Canada: Elsevier.
- Haque, Nasim, Moriarty, Erin and Anderson, Emily. (2008). Voices: Tackling Inequity Through a Community Based Initiative on the Social Determinants of Health. St. James Town Initiative Neighbourhood and Health. Toronto, Canada: Wellesley Institute. Retrieved from http://sjtinitiative.com/archives/254
- Healey, Gwen K. and Meadows, Lynn M. (2008). Tradition and Culture: An Important Determinant of Inuit Women's Health. *Journal of Aboriginal Health*, January 2008. pp. 25-33. Retrieved from http://www.naho.ca/english/journal/jah04_01/05TraditionCulture_25-33.pdf
- Health Canada. (2007). Income-Related Household Food Security in Canada. *Canadian Community Health Survey Cycle 2.2, Nutrition* (2004). Office of Nutrition Policy and Promotion Health Products and Food Branch. Catalogue no. H164-42/2007E-PDF Ottawa, Canada: Health Canada. Retrieved from http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/fn-an/alt_formats/hpfb-dgpsa/pdf/surveill/income_food_sec-sec_alim-eng.pdf
- Heart and Stroke Foundation. (2009). Access to Affordable, Healthy and Nutritious Food ("Food Security"). Heart and Stroke Foundation of Canada Position Statement. Ottawa, Canada: Heart and Stroke Foundation of Canada. Retrieved from http://www.heartandstroke.com/site/c.iklQLcMWJtE/b.4956487/k.ACE2/Position_Statements_Access_to_Affordable_Healthy_and_Nutritious_Foods.htm
- Heart and Stroke Foundation. (2009). Heart and Stroke Foundation Report Asks: What's in Store for Canada's Heart Health? Heart and Stroke Foundation of Canada Report on Health. Ottawa, Canada: Heart and Stroke Foundation of Canada. Retrieved from http://www.heartandstroke.on.ca/site/c.pvl3leNWJwE/b.4969175/k.696F/2009_Report_Card_Whats in store for Canadas heart health.htm
- Hennessy, Trish and Yalnizyan, Armine. (2009). Canada's "He-cession". Behind the Numbers, 10(4). Toronto, Canada: Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives. Retrieved from http://www.policyalternatives.ca/~ASSETS/DOCUMENT/National_Office_Pubs/2009/HeCession.pdf
- Hennessy, Trish. (2008). Ontarians Waiting For Leadership On Poverty Reduction. Toronto, Canada: Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives. Retrieved from http://www.policyalternatives.ca/documents/National_Office_Pubs/2008/Ontario_Poverty_Poll.pdf

- Hennessy, Trish and Yalnizyan, Armine. (2008). Ready for Leadership: Canadians' Perceptions of Poverty. Toronto, Canada: Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives. Retrieved from http://www.growinggap.ca/files/Ready%20for%20Leadership.pdf
- Hennessy, Trish, Kesselman, Jon, Beach, Charles M., Myles, John, Orsini, Michael, Cunningham, Frank, Osberg, Lars and Green, David A. (2007). Why Inequality Matters, In 1,000 Words or Less. Toronto, Canada: Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives. Retrieved from http://www.growinggap.ca/files/Why%20Inequality%20Matters%20in%201000%20words%20or%20Iess.pdf
- Hudson, Ian. (2008). Stuck in Neutral: Manitoba families working harder just to stay in place. Fast Facts. Winnipeg, Canada: Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives Manitoba Office. Retrieved from http://www.policyalternatives.ca/documents/Manitoba_Pubs/2008/FastFacts_Feb21_08_Stuckin_Neutral.pdf
- Hulchanski, J. David. (2007). The Three Cities Within Toronto. Centre for Urban & Community Studies Research Bulletin 41. Toronto, Canada: University of Toronto Centre for Urban and Community Studies. Retrieved from http://www.urbancentre.utoronto.ca/pdfs/researchbulletins/CUCSRB41_Hulchanski_Three_Cities_Toronto.pdf
- Human Development Council and Campaign 2000. (2008). Child and Family Poverty Report Card New Brunswick 2008. Toronto, Canada: Campaign 2000 and Human Development Council. Retrieved from http://sjhdc.ca/pdf/2008/povertyreport.pdf
- Hurst, Matt. (2009). Who Participates in Active Leisure? *Canadian Social Trends*. Statistics Canada Catalogue no. Doi: 11-008-X. Ottawa, Canada: Statistics Canada. Retrieved from http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/11-008-x/2009001/article/10690-eng.pdf
- Indian and Northern Affairs Canada (n.d.) Fact Sheet: 2006 Census Aboriginal Demographics.
 Ottawa, Canada: Indian and Northern Affairs Canada. Retrieved from http://www.ainc-inac.gc.ca/ai/mr/is/cad-eng.asp
- Isaak, Corinne A. and Marchessault, Gail. (2008). Meaning of Health: The Perspectives of Aboriginal Adults and Youth in a Northern Manitoba First Nations Community. *Canadian Journal of Diabetes*, 32(2), pp. 114-122. Retrieved from http://www.diabetes.ca/files/Isaak--June42008.pdf
- Janz, Theresa, Seto, Joyce and Turner, Annie. (2009). Aboriginal Peoples Survey, 2006
 An Overview of the Health of the Métis Population. Analytical Paper, Statistics Canada
 Catalogue no. 89-637-X No. 004. Ottawa, Canada: Statistics Canada. Retrieved from http://www.metisnation.ca/PDF-
 May2009/press/APS%20M%C3%A9tis%20article%202006%20English.pdf
- James, Paul D., Wilkins, Russel, Detsky, Allan S., Tugwell, Peter and Manuel, Douglas G. (2007). Avoidable Mortality by Neighbourhood Income in Canada: 25 years after the establishment of universal health insurance. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health* 2007. 61, pp. 287-296.

- Jeffery, Bonnie and Abonyi, Sylvia. (2009). First Nation's Health Development: Tools for Assessment of Health and Social Service Program Impacts on Community Wellness and Capacity. Regina, Canada: Saskatchewan Population Health and Evaluation Research Unit. Retrieved from http://www.spheru.ca/research-projects/first-nation2019s-health-development-tools-for-assessment-of-health-and-social-service-program-impacts-on-community-wellness-and-capacity
- Jeffery, Bonnie, Abonyi, Sylvia, Labonté, Ronald, Duncan, Kerrie. (2006). Engaging Numbers: Developing Health Indicators that Matter for First Nations and Inuit People. Journal of Aboriginal Health September 2006. pp. 44-52. Retrieved from http://www.naho.ca/english/journal/Article05.pdf
- Kilkman, John. (2008). We Can Do Better: Toward an Alberta Child Poverty Reduction Strategy for Children and Families. Edmonton, Canada: Edmonton Social Planning Council. Retrieved from http://www.pialberta.org/content pdf/we can do better
- Kwan, Janice, Razzaq, Asma, Leiter, Lawrence A., Lillie, Donna, and Hux, Janet E. (2008). Low Socioeconomic Status and Absence of Supplemental Health Insurance as Barriers to Diabetes Care Access and Utilization. Canadian Journal of Diabetes. 32(3), pp. 174-181.
- Labonté, Ronald, Mahajarine, Nazeem, Winquist, Brandace, Quail, Jacqueline. (2009). Healthy Populations Domain. Toronto, Canada: Canadian Index of Wellbeing. Retrieved from www.ciw.ca.
- LaRochelle-Cote, Sebastien, Dionne, Claude. (2009). International differences in low-paid work. Perspectives, pp. 5 13. Ottawa, Canada: Statistics Canada. Retrieved from http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/75-001-x/2009106/pdf/10894-eng.pdf
- Land, Kenneth C. (2007). 2007 Child Well-Being Index (CWI) Special Focus Report on International Comparisons. Foundation for Child Development. Retrieved from http://www.fcd-us.org/resources/resources/ show.htm?doc id=510642
- Laurie, Nathan. (2008). The Cost of Poverty: An Analysis of the Economic Cost of Poverty in Ontario. Toronto, Canada: Ontario Association of Food Banks. Retrieved from http://www.oafb.ca/assets/pdfs/CostofPoverty.pdf
- Leitch, Dr. K. Kellie. (2007). Reaching for the Top, A Report by the Advisor on Healthy Children & Youth. Ottawa, Canada: Minister of Health. Retrieved from http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/hl-vs/alt_formats/hpb-dgps/pdf/child-enfant/2007-advisor-conseillere/advisor-conseillere-eng.pdf
- Leween, Corrina Chief. (2009). Health Has No Colour. Health Council of Canada. Retrieved from: www.healthcouncilcanada.ca/docs/2009/HealthHasNoColour_HCC_Jan2009.pdf
- Lightman, Ernie, Mitchell, Andrew, and Wilson, Beth. (2008). Poverty is making us sick: A comprehensive survey of income and health in Canada. Toronto, Canada: Community Social Planning Council of Toronto and Wellesley Institute. Retrieved from http://socialplanningtoronto.org/healthequitylightman2008.pdf

- Livingston, Lori A., Tirone, Susan C., Smith, Emma L. and Miller, A. Jordan. (2008). "They Just Don't Know Where to Go, What to Do" Connecting Newcomers to Sports and Coaching Opportunities in Atlantic Canada. Our Diverse Cities, 5, Spring 2008. Canada: Metropolis. Retrieved from http://canada.metropolis.net/pdfs/Pgs ODC spring08 connecting e.pdf
- MacKinnon, Shauna. (2008). MANITOBA BUDGET 2008: Make Poverty Reduction a Priority. Fast Facts. Winnipeg, Canada: Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives Manitoba Office.
- MacKinnon, Shauna. (2008). Poverty and Social Exclusion: Solving Complex Issues through Comprehensive Approaches. *CCPA Review Economic & Social Trends*. Toronto, Canada: Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives. Retrieved from http://www.policyalternatives.ca/documents/Manitoba_Pubs/2008/Poverty_and_Social_Exclusion.pdf
- Martel, Laurent and Caron Malenfant, Éric. (2007). Portrait of a Canadian Population in 2006, by Age and Sex, 2006 Census. Census Analysis Series. Statistics Canada Catalogue no. 97-551-XIEOttawa, Canada: Statistics Canada. Retrieved from http://www12.statcan.ca/census-recensement/2006/as-sa/97-551/pdf/97-551-XIE2006001.pdf
- Martens, Patricia J., Martin, Bruce D., O'Neil, John D., MacKinnon, Melanie. (2007). Diabetes and Adverse Outcomes in a First Nations Population: Associations with Healthcare Access, and Socioeconomic and Geographical Factors. *Canadian Journal of Diabetes, 31(3)*, pp. 223-232. Retrieved from http://www.diabetes.ca/Files/PMartens-Aug232007.pdf
- Martz, D. and A. Wagner (2008) Saskatchewan Rural Youth Healthy Lifestyles and Risk Behaviour Project Fact Sheet I. Health Canada DSCIF Study #6558-08-2005/3480566. Saskatoon: University of Saskatchewan. Retrieved from http://www.uwinnipeg.ca/admin/vh_external/pwhce/pdf/youth/Fact_SheetIStudyInfo.pdf
- Maund, Jacquie. (2007). Campaign 2000 National Forum On Living Wages. Falling Fortunes and Campaign 2000. Retrieved from http://www.fallingfortunes.ca/portal/images/stories/natforum9_07/sept07natforumreport.pdf
- Maxwell, Judith. (2008). Local Solutions for a Global Crisis. *Globe and Mail Update*. Toronto, Canada: Globe and Mail. Retrieved at http://tamarackcommunity.ca/downloads/index/JMaxwell_sol_global_crisis.pdf
- McCuaig, Kerry. (2007). Raising the Falling Fortunes of Young Families with Children. Toronto, Canada: Campaign 2000. Retrieved at http://www.fallingfortunes.ca/portal/images/stories/raisingfallingforutunes.pdf
- McMurtry, The Honourable Roy and Curling, Dr. Alvin. (2008). Findings, Analysis and Conclusions. *The Review of the Roots of Youth Violence*. Toronto, Canada: Queen's Printer for Ontario. Retrieved by http://www.rootsofyouthviolence.on.ca/english/reports/volume1.pdf

- Michalos, Alex C., Sharpe, Andrew, Arsenault, Jean-François, Muhajarine, Nazeem, Labonté, Ronald, Scott, Katherine and Shookner, Malcolm. (2009). An Approach to the Canadian Index of Wellbeing. Toronto, Canada: Canadian Index of Wellbeing. Retrieved http://www.ciw.ca
- Minsky, Amy. (2009). Aboriginal children's health below national averages: UNICEF. Canwest News Service, June 24, 2009. Retrieved from http://www.canada.com/health/Aboriginal+children+health+below+national+averages+UNICEF/1727927/story.html
- Morissette, Rene. (2008). Earnings in the last decade. Perspectives, pp. 12 28. Ottawa, Canada: Statistics Canada Catalogue no. 75-001-X. Ottawa, Canada: Statistics Canada. Retrieved from http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/75-001-x/2008102/article/../pdf/10521-eng.pdf
- Murdie, Robert A.. (2008). Diversity and Concentration in Canadian Immigration. Centre for Urban & Community Studies Research Bulletin, 42. Toronto, Canada: University of Toronto Centre for Urban and Community Studies. Retrieved from http://www.urbancentre.utoronto.ca/pdfs/researchbulletins/CUCSRB42-Murdie-Cdn-lmmigration3-2008.pdf
- Myles, John. (2005) Postponed Adulthood: Dealing with the new Economic Inequality. Ottawa, Canada: Canadian Council on Social Development. Retrieved from http://www.ccsd.ca/pubs/2005/pa/pa.pdf
- National Anti-Poverty Organization. (2008). Poverty and Parliament December 2008. Ottawa, Canada:
 National Anti-Poverty Organization. Retrieved from http://www.cwp-csp.ca/PDF/08 Dec Poverty and Parliament.pdf
- National Collaborating Centre for Aboriginal Health. (2008). Two Major Initiatives Target Aboriginal Environmental Health. First Nations Environmental Health Innovation Network. National Collaborating Centre for Aboriginal Health. Retrieved from http://www.nccah-ccnsa.ca/s 83.asp
- National Council of Welfare. (2007). First Nations, Metis and Inuit Children and Youth: Time to Act. *National Council of Welfare Reports*, Fall 2007, Vol. 127. Ottawa, Canada: National Council of Welfare. Retrieved from http://www.ncwcnbes.net/en/research/TimeToAct-AgissonsMaintenant.html
- Nichols, Tracey. (2009). Depression and Diabetes Which Comes First? Alberta, Canada: University of Alberta School of Public Health. Retrieved from http://www.phs.ualberta.ca/news.cfm?story=86581
- Nord, Mark and Hopwood, Heather. (2008). A Comparison of Household Food Security in Canada and the United States. Economic Research Report 67. Washington, U.S.A.: United States Department of Agriculture. Retrieved from http://www.ers.usda.gov/Publications/ERR67/ERR67.pdf

- O'Campo, Patricia, Salmon, Christina and Burke, Jessica. (2009). Neighbourhoods and Mental Wellbeing: What are the Pathways? *Health & Place*, 15 pp. 56-68. Toronto, Canada: Elsevier.
- O'Neil, Peter. (2009). Racism, Poverty, Aboriginal Issues Cited in UN Report on Canada. The Vancouver Sun. Vancouver, Canada: Canwest Publishing Inc.

 http://www.vancouversun.com/news/Canada+needs+address+human+rights+issues+body/1256-907/story.html
- O'Reilly, Janet and Yau, Maria. (2009). 2008 Parent Census, Kindergarten-Grade 6: System Overview and Detailed Findings. Toronto, Canada: Toronto District School Board. Retrieved from http://www.tdsb.on.ca/wwwdocuments/about_us/media_room/docs/2008ParentCensusK-6SystemOverviewAndDetailedFindings.pdf
- OECD. (2008). Growing Unequal? : Income Distribution and Poverty in OECD Countries. Country Note: Canada. Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development. Retrieved from http://www.oecd.org/dataoecd/44/48/41525292.pdf
- OECD. (2009). Society at a Glance OECD Social Indicators, Key Findings: Canada. Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development. Retrieved from http://www.oecd.org/dataoecd/27/53/42671752.pdf
- Oliver, Lisa and Hayes, Michael. (2008). Effects of neighbourhood income on reported body mass index: an eight year longitudinal study of Canadian children. BMC Public Health 2008, 8(16). Retrieved from http://www.biomedcentral.com/1471-2458/8/16
- Orpana, Heather, Lemyre, Louise, & Kelly, S. (2007). "Do stressors explain the association between income and declines in self-rated health? A longitudinal analysis of the National Population Health Survey", International Journal of Behavioral Medicine, 14(1), 2007, 40-47.
- Orpana, Heather M., Lemyre, Louise and Gravel, Ronald. (2009). Income and psychological distress: The role of the social environment. Health Reports, 20 (1), pp. 21 28. Statistics Canada Catalogue no. 82-003-XPE. Ottawa, Canada: Statistics Canada. Retrieved from http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/82-003-x/82-000
- Osberg, Lars. (2008). A Quarter Century of Economic Inequality in Canada: 1981-2006. Toronto, Canada: Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives. Retrieved from http://www.policyalternatives.ca/documents/National_Office_Pubs/2008/Quarter_Century_of_Inequality.pdf
- Ostrovsky, Yuri. (2008). Earnings Inequality and Earnings Instability of Immigrants in Canada. Analytical Studies Branch Research Paper Series. Statistics Canada Catalogue no. 11F0019M No. 309. Ottawa, Canada: Statistics Canada. Retrieved from http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/11f0019m/11f0019m2008309-eng.pdf (PDF Version, 451 kb)

- Palameta, Boris. (2007). "Economic integration of immigrants' children." Perspectives on Labour and Income, Vol. 8, no. 10. Statistics Canada Catalogue no. 75-001-XWE. Retrieved from http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/75-001-x/75-001-x2007110-eng.htm
- Pegg, Shawn. (2008). CAFB Responds to Beyond Freefall: Halting Rural Poverty, a Report of the Senate Standing Committee on Agriculture and Forestry. Canadian Association of Food Banks.

 Retrieved from http://www.cafb-acba.ca/documents/CAFB Brief Senate Rural Poverty.pdf
- Perrault, Samuel. (2008) Visible Minorities and Victimization, 2004. Canadian Centre for Justice Statistics Profile Series, Statistics Canada Catalogue no. 85F0033MIE, no. 15. Ottawa, Canada: Statistics Canada. Retrieved from http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/85f0033m/85f0033m2008015-eng.pdf
- Pérusse, Dominique. (2008). Aboriginal Peoples Living Off-reserve and the Labour Market. Research Paper, The Aboriginal Labour Force Analysis Series.. Statistics Canada Catalogue no. 71-588-XIE2008001. Ottawa, Canada: Statistics Canada. Retrieved from http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/71-588-x/71-588-x2008001-eng.pdf
- Pickett, Kate E. and Wilkinson, Richard G. (2007). Child Wellbeing and Income Inequality in Rich Societies: Ecological Cross Sectional Study. British Medical Journal, 335:1080. Retrieved from http://www.bmj.com/cgi/content/full/335/7629/1080
- Poverty Reduction Coalition and United Way of Calgary and Area. (2008). Crimes of Desperation: The truth about poverty-related crime. Calgary, Canada: The Poverty Reduction Coalition and United Way of Calgary and Area. Retrieved from http://www.reducepoverty.ca/images/pdf/final%20crimes%20of%20%20desperation%20%28public%20web%29.pdf
- Public Health Agency of Canada. (2007). Crossing Sectors Experiences in Intersectoral Action, Public Policy and Health. Ottawa, Canada. Retrieved from http://www.phac-aspc.gc.ca/publicat/2007/cro-sec/pdf/cro-sec_e.pdf
- Public Health Agency of Canada. (2008). Social and Economic Factors that Influence Our Health and Contribute to Health Inequalities. The Chief Public Health Officer's Report on The State of Public Health in Canada 2008. Ottawa, Canada. Retrieved from http://www.phac-aspc.gc.ca/publicat/2008/cphorsphc-respcacsp/cphorsphc-respcacsp07a-eng.php
- Rainer, Robert. (2009). Toward a Poverty Free Canada. Canada Without Poverty. Retrieved from http://www.themarknews.com/articles/234-toward-a-poverty-free-canada
- Rajekar, Ashutosh and Mathilakath, Ramnarayanan. (2009). Funding Requirement for First Nations Schools in Canada. Office of the Parliamentary Budget Officer, Ottawa, Canada. Retrieved from http://www2.parl.gc.ca/sites/pbo-dpb/documents/INAC_Final_EN.pdf

- Raphael, Dennis (2007). The Social Determinants of Newcomers to Canada's Health: Storm Clouds on the Horizon Presentation. Presentation at Plenary Session, 9th National Metropolis Conference: Exploring Canada's Diversity, Today and Tomorrow, Toronto, March 3, 2007. Retrieved from http://ceris.metropolis.net/9thMetropolisConference/PlenarySessions/Plenary_DennisRaphael.pdf
- Recession Relief Coalition. (2009). What the recession looks like June 2009. Retrieved from www.recessionrelief.ning.com/
- Registered Nurses'Association of Ontario. (2008). Responding to Canada's Growing Income Inequality. Resolution approved at National Conference of Canadian Nurses Association.
- Reutter, Linda, Gerry Veenstra, Miriam Stewart, Dennis Raphael, Rhonda Love, Edward Makwarimba and Susan McMurray. (2006). Public attributions for poverty in Canada. *Canadian Review of Sociology* 43, 1, 1-22.
- Reutter, Linda, Steward, Miriam, Veenstra, Gerry, Love, Rhonda, Raphael, Dennis, and Makwarimba, Edward. (2009). Who do they think we are anyway? Perceptions of and responses to poverty stigma. Qualitative Health Research, 19 (3), pp. 297 311.
- Scott, Katherine. (2009). Community Vitality Domain. Toronto, Canada: Canadian Index of Wellbeing. Retrieved from http://www.ciw.ca
- Shapcott, Michael. (2008). Income Inequality, Increased Housing Insecurity, and Growing Health Inequities: An Analysis of Statistics Canada's Income and Housing Census Figures. Toronto, Canada: Wellesley Institute. Retrieved from http://wellesleyinstitute.com/files/Income%20inequality,%20increased%20housing%20insecurity,%20and%20growing%20health%20inequities_0.pdf
- Sharpe, Andrew, Arsenault, Jean-Francois. (2009). The Economic Crisis Through the Lens of Economic Wellbeing. Toronto, Canada: Canadian Index of Wellbeing. Retrieved from http://www.ciw.ca
- Sharpe, Andrew and Arsenault, Jean-Francois. (2009). Living Standards Domain. Toronto, Canada: Canadian Index of Wellbeing. Retrieved from http://www.ciw.ca.
- Sharpe, Andrew, Arsenault, Jean-François, Lapointe, Simon and Cowan, Fraser. (2009). The Effect of Increasing Aboriginal Educational Attainment on the Labour Force, Output and the Fiscal Balance. Centre for the Study of Living Standards Research Report 2009-3. Ottawa, Canada: Centre for the Study of Living Standards. Retrieved from http://www.csls.ca/reports/csls2009-3.pdf
- Shields, Margot. (2008). Community belonging and self-perceived health. Health Reports Vol. 19 No. 2. Statistics Canada Catalogue no. 82-003-XWE. Ottawa, Canada: Statistics Canada. Retrieved from http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/82-003-x/2008002/article/10552-eng.pdf

- Social Planning Council of Winnipeg. (2008). Manitoba at a Crossroads. Manitoba Child & Family Poverty Report Card 2008. Winnipeg, Canada: Social Planning Council of Winnipeg. Retrieved from http://www.campaign2000.ca/rc/rc08/MB_2008ChildandFamilyPovertyRepCardNov2008.pdf
- Special Rapporteur on adequate housing (2009). Report of the Special Rapporteur on adequate housing as a component of the right to an adequate standard of living, and on the right to non-discrimination in this context, Human Rights Council, February 17, 2009. http://www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/hrcouncil/docs/10session/A.HRC.10.7.Add.3.pdf
- Spurr, Shelley. (2007). The Politics of Policy Development to end Obesity among First Nations Children and Youth in the Education Environment. First Peoples Child & Family Review. 3(3), pp. 72 83. Retrieved from http://www.fncfcs.com/pubs/vol3num3/Spurr 72.pdf
- Statistics Canada. (2009). Aboriginal Peoples Survey 2006: Health of the Métis population. Tables Report. Statistics Canada Catalogue no. 89-637-X No. 005 Ottawa, Ontario: Statistics Canada. Retrieved from http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/89-637-x/89-637-x2009004-eng.htm
- Statistics Canada. (2008a). Aboriginal Peoples in Canada in 2006: Inuit, Métis and First Nations, 2006 Census. Aboriginal Peoples, 2006 Census. Statistics Canada Catalogue no. 97-558-XIE. Ottawa, Canada: Statistics Canada. Retrieved from http://www12.statcan.ca/english/census06/analysis/aboriginal/pdf/97-558-XIE2006001.pdf
- Statistics Canada. (2008b). Earnings and Incomes of Canadians Over the Past Quarter Century, 2006 Census. Census Year 2006. Statistics Canada Catalogue no. 97-563-X. Ottawa, Canada. Retrieved from http://www12.statcan.ca/english/census06/analysis/income/pdf/97-563-XIE2006001.pdf
- Statistics Canada. (2008c). National Longitudinal Survey of Children and Youth: School achievement of nine-year-olds. The Daily, November 24. Statistics Canada no.11-001-XIE. Ottawa, Canada: Statistics Canada. Retrieved from http://www.statcan.gc.ca/daily-quotidien/081124/dq081124a-eng.htm
- Statistics Canada. (2008d). Aboriginal Children's Survey: Family, community and child care. Analytical Paper. Statistics Canada Catalogue no. 89-634-XIE2008001. Ottawa, Canada: Statistics Canada. Retrieved from http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/89-634-x/89-634-x2008001-eng.pdf
- Statistics Canada. (2008e). Canadian census mortality follow-up study. The Daily, September 17. Ottawa, Canada: Statistics Canada. Retrieved from http://www.statcan.gc.ca/daily-quotidien/080917/dq080917b-eng.htm
- Statistics Canada. (2008f). Canada's Ethnocultural Mosaic, 2006 Census. 2996 Census Analysis Series. Catalogue no. 97-562-X. Ottawa, Canada: Statistics Canada. Retrieved from http://www12.statcan.gc.ca/english/census06/analysis/ethnicorigin/pdf/97-562-XIE2006001.pdf

- Statistics Canada. (2008g). Low-income in Canada: 2000-2006 Using the Market Basket Measure October 2008. Human Resources and Social Development Canada. Ottawa, Canada: Statistics Canada. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.hrsdc.gc.ca/eng/publications_resources/research/categories/inclusion/2008/sp-864-10-2008/sp-864-
- Statistics Canada. (2008h). Study: Rural and urban workers living in low-income. The Daily, January 14. Ottawa, Canada: Statistics Canada. Retrieved from http://www.statcan.gc.ca/daily-quotidien/080114/dq080114c-eng.htm
- Statistics Canada. (2007). 2006 Census Dictionary. Ottawa, Canada: Statistics Canada. Retrieved from http://www12.statcan.ca/english/census06/reference/dictionary/geo021.cfm
- Statistics Canada. (2007). Study: Income inequality and redistribution. The Daily, May 11. Statistics Canada Catalogue no. IIF0019MIE2007298. Ottawa, Canada: Statistics Canada. Retrieved from http://www.statcan.gc.ca/daily-quotidien/070511/dq070511b-eng.htm
- Sterritt, Angela. (2007). Racialization of Poverty: Indigenous Women, the Indian Act and Systemic Oppression. Vancouver Status of Women's Racialization of Poverty Project. Vancouver, Canada: Vancouver Status of Women.
- Stewart, Miriam, Reutter, Linda, Makwarimga, Edward, Veenstra, Gerry, Love, Rhonda and Raphael, Dennis. (2008). Left out: Experiences of inclusion and exclusion across income groups. Health Sociology Review. 17 (2), pp. 78 94.
- Tait, Heather. (2008). Aboriginal Peoples Survey: Inuit health and social conditions. Analytical Paper. Statistics Canada Catalogue no. 89-637-XIE2008001. Ottawa, Canada: Statistics Canada. Retrieved from http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/89-637-x/89-637-x2008001-eng.pdf
- The Annie E. Casey Foundation. (2008). Growing Up in North America: The Economic Well-Being of Children in Canada, The United States and Mexico. Baltimore, Maryland: The Annie E. Casey Foundation. Retrieved from http://www.ccsd.ca/pubs/2006/cina/index.htm
- The City of Calgary, Social Policy and Planning, Community And Neighbourhood Services. (2006). Community Assessment Survey Summary Report. Signposts 2006: A Survey of the Social Issues and Needs of Calgarians. Calgary, Canada: The City of Calgary.
- The Conference Board of Canada. (2008). How Canada Performs: A Report Card on Canada. Ottawa, Canada: Conference Board of Canada. Retrieved from http://www.conferenceboard.ca/HCP/default.aspx
- The Special Senate Committee on Aging. (2008). Issues and Options for an Aging Population. Special Senate Committee on Aging Second Interim Report. Ottawa, Canada: The Senate. Retrieved from http://www.parl.gc.ca/39/2/parlbus/commbus/senate/Com-e/agei-e/rep-e/repfinmar08-e.pdf

- The Standing Senate Committee on Agriculture and Forestry. (2008). Beyond Freefall: Halting Rural Poverty. Standing Senate Committee on Agriculture and Forestry. Ottawa, Canada: The Senate. Retrieved from http://www.parl.gc.ca/39/2/parlbus/commbus/senate/com-e/agri-e/rep-e/rep09jun08-e.pdf
- The Standing Senate Committee on Social Affairs, Science and Technology. (2009). A Healthy, Productive Canada: A Determinant of Health Approach. Ottawa, Canada: The Senate. Retrieved from http://www.parl.gc.ca/40/2/parlbus/commbus/senate/com-e/popu-e/rep-e/rephealth1jun09-e.pdf
- The Subcommittee on Cities of the Standing Senate Committee on Social Affairs, Science and Technology. (2008). Poverty, Housing And Homelessness: Issues And Options. Seventeenth Report of the Standing Senate Committee on Social Affairs. Ottawa, Canada: The Senate. Retrieved from http://www.parl.gc.ca/39/2/parlbus/commbus/senate/com-e/soci-e/rep-e/rep17jun08-e.htm
- The Subcommittee on Population Health of the Standing Committee on Social Affairs, Science and Technology. (2008). Population Health Policy: Federal, Provincial and Territorial Perspectives. Third Report of the Subcommittee on Population Health of the Standing Senate Committee on Social Affairs, Science and Technology. Ottawa, Canada: The Senate. Retrieved from http://www.parl.gc.ca/39/2/parlbus/commbus/senate/Com-e/SOCI-E/rep-e/rep09apr08-e.htm
- The Subcommittee on Population Health of the Standing Committee on Social Affairs, Science and Technology (2008). Population Health Policy: Issues and Options. Fourth Report of the Subcommittee on Population Health of the Standing Senate Committee on Social Affairs, Science and Technology. Ottawa, Canada: The Senate. Retrieved from http://www.parl.gc.ca/39/2/parlbus/commbus/senate/com-e/soci-e/rep-e/rep10apr08-e.pdf
- The Vanier Institute of the Family. (2008). Giving credit where earnings are due. Fascinating Families, 15.

 Retrieved from http://www.vifamily.ca/families/ffl5.pdf
- Thompson, Debra. (2008). Is Race Political? *Canadian Journal of Political Science*, 41(3), pp. 525-547. Toronto, Canada: Canadian Political Science Association.
- Tucker, Patricia, Irwin, Jennifer D., Gilliland, Jason, He, Meizi, Larson Kristian and Hell, Paul. (2009). Environmental Influences on Physical Activity Levels in Youth. *Health & Place, 15 pp. 357-363*. Toronto, Canada: Elsevier.
- UNICEF. (2007). Child poverty in perspective: An overview of child well-being in rich countries, Innocenti Report Card 7. Innocenti Research Centre, Florence, Italy: Innocenti Research Centre. Retrieved from http://www.unicef-irc.org/publications/pdf/rc7_eng.pdf
- UNICEF. (2008). The child care transition, Innocenti Report Card 8, 2008. UNICEF Innocenti Research Centre, Florence. Retrieved from http://www.unicef.ca/portal/Secure/Community/502/WCM/HELP/take_action/Advocacy/rc8.pdf

- UNICEF. (2009). Canadian Supplement to the State of the World's Children, Aboriginal children's health: Leaving no child behind. Toronto, Canada: Canadian UNICEF Committee. Retrieved from
 - http://www.unicef.ca/portal/Secure/Community/502/WCM/HELP/take_action/Advocacy/Report %20Summary%20Leaving%20no%20child%20behind.pdf
- United Way of Canada/Centraide Canada. (n.d.). Initiatives and Partnerships. Action for Neighbourhood Change. Retrieved from http://www2.unitedway.ca/UWCanada/content.aspx?id=67
- Urban Alliance on Racial Relations. (2007). Tenth National Metropolis Conference. Urban Alliance on Race Relations. Retrieved from www.urbanalliance.ca.
- Urquia, Marcelo, Frank, John, Glazier, Richard, Moineddin, Rahim. (2007). Birth outcomes by neighbourhood income and recent immigration in Toronto. Health Reports, 18(4). Statistics Canada Catalogue 82-003 Ottawa, Canada: Statistics Canada. Retrieved from http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/82-003-x/2006010/article/birth-naissance/10356-eng.pdf
- VanderPlaat, Madine. (2007). A Review of the Literature 2000-2007 [Review of Integration Outcomes for Immigrant Women in Canada]. Atlantic Metropolis Centre Working Paper Series, 8-2007. Halifax, Canada: Atlantic Metropolis Centre.
- Veenstra, Gerry. (2009). Racialized identity and health in Canada: Results from a nationally representative survey. Social Science & Medicine, 69, pp. 538 543.
- White, Kathryn, Serniczuk, Maria and Ramsay, Gabriel. (2007). Talking Back to Grownups: Healthy Children, Healthy Communities. Ottawa, Canada: United Nations Association in Canada.
- Wilkins, Russell, Uppal, Sharanjit, Finès, Philippe, Senécal, Sacha, Guimond, Éric and Dion, Rene. (2008). Life expectancy in the Inuit-inhabited areas of Canada, 1989 to 2003. Health Reports. Statistics Canada Catalogue no. 82-003-X, Ottawa, Canada: Statistics Canada. Retrieved from http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/82-003-x/2008001/article/10463-eng.pdf (PDF Version, 410 kb)
- Wilson, Beth, Lightman, Ernie and Mitchell, Andrew. (2009). Sick and Tired: The Compromised Health of Social Assistance Recipients and the Working Poor in Ontario. Community Social Planning Council of Toronto (CSPC-T), University of Toronto's Social Assistance in the New Economy Project (SANE) and the Wellesley Institute. Retrieved from http://wellesleyinstitute.com/files/sickandtiredfinal.pdf
- Wilson, Kathi, Eyles, John, Elliott, Susan and Keller-Olaman, Sue. (2009). Health in Hamilton Neighbourhoods: Exploring the Determinants of Health at the Local Level. *Health & Place*, 15 pp. 374-382. Toronto, Canada: Elsevier.
- Winsa, Patty. (2009). Poor Neighbourhoods Growing Across Toronto. Toronto Star, February 8, 2009. Retrieved from http://www.thestar.com/News/GTA/article/584204

- Working Group on the Universal Periodic Review. (2008). Compilation Prepared By The Office Of The High Commissioner For Human Rights, In Accordance With Paragraph 15(B) Of The Annex To Human Rights Council Resolution 5/1, Canada. Human Rights Council, United Nations. Retrieved from http://lib.ohchr.org/HRBodies/UPR/Documents/Session4/CA/A HRC WG6 4 CAN 2 E.PDF
- Yalnizyan, Armine. (2009). Exposed: Revealing Truths About Canada's Recession. Toronto, Canada: Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives. Retrieved from http://www.growinggap.ca/files/Exposed_Revealing_Truths_About_Canadas_Recession.pdf
- Yalnizyan, Armine. (2007). Ontario's Growing Gap: Time for Leadership. Toronto, Canada: Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives. Retrieved from http://www.policyalternatives.ca/documents/Ontario Office Pubs/2007/ontariogrowinggap.pdf
- Zachariah, Mathew, Littlechild, Danika Billie, Este, Davic, Galabuzi, Grace-Edward and Etowa, Josephine Bassey. (2009). Racism as a Determinant of Health. Canadian Race Relations Foundation. Retrieved from http://www.crr.ca/content/view/334/533/lang,english/

Based in the Faculty of Applied Health Sciences at the University of Waterloo, the Canadian Index of Wellbeing Network is an independent, non-partisan group of national and international leaders, researchers, organizations, and grassroots Canadians. Its mission is to report on wellbeing at the national level and promote a dialogue on how to improve it through evidence-based policies that are responsive to the needs and values of Canadians.

The Network's signature product is the Canadian Index of Wellbeing (CIW). The CIW measures Canada's wellbeing and tracks progress in eight interconnected categories. It allows us, as Canadians, to see if we are better off or worse off than we used to be — and why. It helps identify what we need to change to achieve a better outcome and to leave the world a better place for the generations that follow.

The Honourable Roy J. Romanow, Chair The Honourable Monique Bégin, Deputy Chair





